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COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF fg PEACE,

CITY AND COUNTY OF NEV YORK, PART I,

................... x
THE PEOPLE H
: Before:
-against- :
¢ JCBSEPE ¥, MULQUZEN, J.,
JOHN TMUNT. 3
: an® a Jury,
................... b 4

New Yor¥, Jnnuery 6th, 1916, eto,
Incdicted for rape in the first degree, @

Indictrent flled December 3And; 1815,

APPEARANRCES:
ACTIOTANT DISTRICT ATTORREY JARES E, SEITH,
FOR T PBOTLE,

LOUIS CUVILLIER, ESQ,, FOR YHE DEFENSE,
=00 H0C 00w

TRANCCRIPT OF STIMOGRAPHER'S MINUTES,

Frank 8, Beard,

nfficial Stenographer,




' THE PEOPLE'S TESTIMONY:

KATHERIVNE KERN, of 139 East 130th Street,
a witness called in behalf of th:_?ooplo, being duly
éworn, testified as followas: |
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, SMITH:
Where were you living on the 34th of Octobder, 19157

A 7T was home, sir, in my house.’

e

/7 Well, where wers you living? A ‘139 East 130th "' .eet,

Q And with whom wer: you living there? A My husband, eir.

Q Have you got any childrent A No, sir,

¢

Q Now do you remember the 34th of October, 1915; in the

evening, about 11 or 12 o'clock, that evening? A Yes, eir,
Where were you at that tire, where were you going?

A Tell, T was lookingz for my husband, He was drinking that

night, ;ni I went to bed at seven o'clock, and woke up at

half past eleven, ani'he #wasn't home, and I went out to look

for him, and, before I went to a saloon, I went to his boss,
and rang his bgl;. |
Well, you were walking along 135th Street? A I looked
in the saloon at 134th Street and Second Avenue, and he wasn't
in there, and I waa on my way home,
Q You were walking on 135th Street? A Yes, sir.
Q@ And you vere going from Secoud Avenue over towards Third

Avenuet A Yes, seir, !

Q HNow when you were mear 30 135th Street, did you ses
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the defendant? A I eeen him inside of the door, He oponodq
the door,

Q What happened to-you, 1f‘;%yth1ng, when the door lead-
inz into the premises 330 East 135th Street, w2s opencd? Where
were you? .A Joseprh Hinch ey had hold of me,

MR, CUVILLIER: She said that Joseph Hinchey had yold
of her, which iz not binding on the defendant,
THE COURT: Well, I will allow it for the preeent;
BY MR, SMITH:

A Where was the defendant at the time? A Ile had hold
of the door, hold of the latch, and he opened the door, and then
Joseph Hinchey rushed me into the laundry, |

2 And who was there in the lavndry at the time? A Only

Joseph Hinchey and the defendant,

N Tov in this room where the defendant and Hinchey were,
vhat, 4f anythinz, happened to you? A TWVell, Joseph Hdinchey
thre~ me on the floor, and this man held by the two legs, this
defendant, o

And what did the defendant do, at that time, in that
room, }f anything? A Well, he had sexual intercourse with me,
'"n. CUVILLIER: I object to that and move to

strike it out, '

THE COURT: YNotion denied,
"R, CUVILLIER: . Exception,

BY MR, SMITH:
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7 Well, what did he do? A Well, he used me on the floor,
Q Well, what did he do? What did he do with hip private

parte?

¥R, CUVILLIER: I object %o that ase leading, if
your Honor please. The defendants has some rights,

I submit,

THE COURT: Yee; the dofendaﬁt has some right, the
right to have the truth brought out, Ifyou have an objec~
tion or motion to make, make it, We knbw that the
defendant has rights, and they will be religiounly‘oh-
served, And the Pople have righta also, and that is to
bring out the facts, and there is nothing at all improper
in Mr, Smith's question, . Objection overruled,

¥R, CUVILLIER: Exception,

BY MR, SMITH:

Q Go on now, 4 Hunt held me by the legs while Joaeph
Hinchey had sexual interccurse with me, und, w;en Hinchey
ot tﬁrough, Mr, Hunt got on top of me and had sexual inter-
course with me.

7 And did he put his private parts into yours? A Yes,sir,

MR, CUVILLIFR: I object to that as leading,

THE COURT: Overruled.

MR, CUVILLIER: [Exception,

THE COURT: He merely wishes to have the witness

more explicis, Allowed,




¥R, CUVILLI®R: Exception,

BY I'R, SMIT: ~
. sl
e took 2 rocketbBok

~ And what 4§4 he do after Lthat? A

ht in beer and cigarettés, and they

ocut of my DIand _and brouj

drank the Leer and amoke’ the cizarettes,

That 447 yon do? A Tell, Finchey waeg helding me, and
I zorcamed, and wante’ %o gei out, Ar’ when te brought back

bt bygk the forepan of the laundry with him,

ther? A ™y, T sereemed and kicked,

A ARd vhat AL you o

and they roulén't let me out,
{ v hos lon; ers you in that rocr before vou got out?

VYErY near, Anl Yr, ™ant aays tc Uinchey,

A Lbout fovr hours, verj
atation houag ri~ht away,

"Let her out mowf and T ran %0 the
e AT thats t  *4 18364h “tpeat, batveen Second and
Pz kw 3 ri T ng~n tha lientenant,
Rl A4 . - rhar w#hat hiag name w» 187 2 T believe
it ils MoTea;hlin,
. fle 1e cutalide.,

0 Ti he in Court?

dsk 1€ Tieutenant Stephen Loughman is

., SHITH:
outalla, Cantuln,
Te thie the Tieuterant 1 A5+ in the statisn house
(indlcatinzg)? 2 Yee, nir,
"R, SMITH: . That ic nl1, llisutanant, That is

Lieutenant Oterbhon Touw hman,




Y

BY THE COURT:

8
Q Then what did you do, if anything? T

Q *aat dii you say to the lieutenant? A‘ I told him what :
happened to me in the laundry, : ﬁ

@ You made complaint to him, did’you? A Yes, sir,

Q Told him what had hajpened to you? A Yes, sir,
BY MR, SMITH: ’

N And what did you do after that? Where did you go?
A He sent an officer to the laundry wvith me,

Q0 . And youwent right back to the laugdry? A Yes, sir; and
couldn't get in, The pluce w22 closed; the door was closed
and locked, | |

What wae the name of the officer who went there with

your A I think it w=s officer Stack,
get

Q2 And you wrnt there and couldn't/in there? A Yes, ®ir,

7 How long did you remain there? A In the laundry?

2 No, when you went back with the officer? A Why, they
ere trying the dcor and that's all, .

Q Where dii you go then? A 1 went home, and an officer

TJ\

went home with me,

Q0 7Now, the next morning, did you go anywhere, the next day?
A Yen, eir; I went to the grocery store the next morning,

Sunday,

Q This wae on a Saturday night, was 1t? A Yes, sir. //fj

¥ .

Q And when did you next see the defendant Hunt? A THes

\




7
until Tive days after, Mr, Hinochey +us being tried in the
Court, the Marler Cour®, =nd 3T e hin at 123nd Street and
Second Avenue, and T couldn't find an officer, and the~licuten-
ant sent an ofTilcer ~ith me, 1n3 he ras arrested,

0 MNad you evar asecrn hilr before the acsault was made upon
you? A Yoa, 2ir; I think T sar him tzo times, but I never
talked to hir,

BY THE COURT:
A Then you think you saw hi

» under vhat circumstances

11d you see him, a3 far as you can remember? A Vell, in 135th

Street, atanding en the <crner,

~ Yow ihnj have you lived ia ﬁﬂ.u nel nborhood? A I
iwon't live there, I have o f{riend lives ther~ for fourteen
years, I know her since I came to the country, and, when I

uged to live out, T uaseu to 0 Lo sez hor,

L)
¢ You have b sn fourtzen years in thia country, have

Ani hov lon- have you liveu in 130th Street? A Only

oin: on four months up thare, ' -

Kor vo you remember rhich one it was that placed you on
the floour, #hen you firust went into the laundry? A Joseph
lMinchey,

2 Did he strike you? 4 He cmught me by the neck, and put

his hande over myv mouth, ani threv me on the floor, an I




screamed and kicked, and this boy here held me by the legs,
BY THE COURT: V -

2 There were two of them in the room then? A Yes, sir,

.

CROSS FXAVIN:TION BY MR, CUVILLIER:

Q WVadam, how old are you? A Thirty-seix,

3 Fon long have you hesa married? A fiance the 26¢%h of
lant Aupued,

You live with your husbind? A Yes, sir,

2 On thir night in queation you vent to = saloom known

28 Murphy's aaloon, didn't yout 4 Yes, ;ir.

2 On 124th Street and Sccord Avanue? A Yes, sir,

To 3ce 4f jour husband was there? A TYea, eir,
» ‘“
% Did jyou have 1 drink thre? A No, sir; I didn't,
I cpene’ the front or and lookz2d in,
BY THE QoURT:
N Tell, he ma¥ai y u whether you hai a drink there, A

s
Vo, sir.,
BY ¥R, CUVILT.ITR:
7 Hald you been dvinking bLefore you went there? A Ne, sir,
7 Yoo deo drink, though? A I drink a glass of beer,
that's 212, wvhen my hucband gete it, sometimes,:
" Wow, on your vay back frow Murphy's saloon, you walked

weat on the easst sides of 1ibtk Btreety £ Yes, eir,

. On the south nide of the strcet, I meant A Yes, #ir,




4 And when you got in front of the laundry, you say
ﬁindhey grabbed you? A Yes, sir.

0 And shoved you in the laundry? A Yes, sir,

n And the defendant Hunt opened the door? A Yes, sir,

8 Aﬁd Hinchey and Hunt were the only two there; is that
right? A Yes, sir,

n Now, which one took you back in the laundry, Hinchey
or Hunt? A Hanchey, |

n Was Finchey the (irest one that had asexual intercourse
with ycu? A Yee, eir,

n  And while you were baving sexnal intercourse with him,
you say Hunt held you? A Yes, 8air, |

7 How? A By the two shoes,

N There were your hands? A  Vell, T wac using my hands,
trying to mush him off, to push Hinchey off we,

A Di you strike him? A Yes, I tried to strike him,

A Then Hinchev rot throuch with you, then you say that
Hunt had sexual intercourse with you? A Yee, sir.

A And d4i4 Hinchey hold you while Hunt had sexual inter-
course with you? A No, h2 didn't, 1 wanted to o away, to
0 out, and he threatened to killme, if I screamed,

A Tho 4147 A Joseph “inchey,

7 But no one held you while Hunt had sexual intercourse
*4th you at all? A WNo, sair,

n Well, d4id4 you try to stop Hunt from having sexual inter=




course with your A I dld,‘}en.
N What &id you do? A

kicked, and he wouldn't gel oIf me, 1
 And when he got through

he took’

book from my hand, »

BY TYE COURT: 5

Q You haa a liittle prceketbocl

0
-

=

here was the money? Vaa 1t

your hand? A It was in my _oc:zet

in the pocketbouok, and I kne  Li: woney would be tiken from me —-
and -=
¥R, CUVILLIER: Obgected to,
r'dl COURT: custalaesa, /
BY ¥R, CUVILLIFR:
2 dell, wny dli you have 1t in your hand? A Because I
took it cut of my pocket!, andheld it in =my hand,
N Nos uidn't you take the $I out of your rocket and give
it to hir to 3o and get a pint of bveer? A o, sir, -
Pidn't you eay tc Funt, "I am dry, luve you got a can?®
And -- A 1‘cidn't eay notibing of the kind, eir, %o hih,

O Ani dicn't you eay, "liereto 4

Q WVell, did you say auything to
money {rom the pocketbeok? A I told

I wus after taking it ocut of the poat

/hat havpened then? A

hau ]

10

I tried to push him off me, and

Vell,

3 that I had in my’little pocketbook, he took the pocket=-

ir your hand? A Yeés, sir.

in your pocketidook or im

wag left in thers,

¢ dqullare™? A I 4id pe%.

him when he took yowur
Wim T wanted my money,

office, in the morning
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early, two dollars for Sunday, &

Q An' row long 7am he gone for tY¥ beer? A About teg
minutes, \

2 And you rere alone there with Finchey? A Yea, sir,

% And did you try to get out? A Yes, I did, And he put
me up against the laundry table, and atid he would kill me, if
I screamed, and he brought in !lr, Cliff;iihéqforemnn of the
laundry,

n Dii ybu drink any of the beer? A No, I didn't drink
any of the peer.

7 TVell, wsho drank the beer? A Well, I seen that boy
Hunt and Hinchey drink,

: "y
Q Di¢ C14fr drink any/of 1t? A No, Ididn't see him
irink any of it,

Viell, ~hen the beer came in ana they drank, what hap-
rened then? A Tinchey threv me on the floor, for Cliff, and
then 'r, Clilf used me on the floor,

And ~hat iid Clifl do? A He was atanding underneath
‘he electric 1light, and he pulled the cap down on his eyes,
wnd put the 1isht out; ne turned the lizht out when they were
using me on the floor, and he pulled his cap dowvn with one hand
on hin eyes, ani pulled the chain with the other,

7 And hov many times dij you have sexual 1nteroourl§ with

Hunt? A  Five or six times,

§Y THE GQURT:
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Q Do you mean Hunt, or all of them? A WNo, sir; each
man, b
BY MR, CUVILLIER:

Q And Punt had 1t 707 many times with you? A Five or six,

Q And you were in thare four houra? A Yes, eoir,
BY THF COURT:

7 DNid one sthar or two others cone in? A One, when

‘r-ln Yoy ". 4

the H@~y in,
e Tere-Tora three men thars altogether? A Yes, sir,
And C1if7T vsel me on the flecar and or the lrundry tabdble,
And Joaaph Plunchey sali, ?That “ime ic 1to?* Ani he sald, "It's
< J »
tro o'alock, Take the gor-of-c-bitch uratairs nowe,
An? thay wars takinz me upstaire, and 1 locked out of the

zlass door, 2nd T a22ii, "Tet =2 take ry shoe off, There 18 B

nail in 14®, and T thought T econuld fire it thoough the glass

»
door, -ni evoly would hear 4%,

‘ ”Y“? W ;] A%y 28 op ,,': ‘,» " - !.,. - - \..5‘ 9 bit-’:\l. B'OU :’.&
upritaire®, and T serzamed, and he anught me by the mouth and he
th!‘(" ro als ) ;,-v,.:.:b\:  eTe 1.v,-“4-‘. .-vl-.! .---‘ .,nv h? ‘"""‘.’T C‘hOkin; me.
Nt 12 T mag five rinutec more 4here, T wonld be anothered.

w1, CUVTILLITR: T chicct %o th=t 2nd move to strike
that out,
TIT AT . Nenied, T+ won part of the transaction,
sp che o)~ime, :
7. U

'nr- MMYY TTeN. v""\ﬂlv‘"!/ n,

BY MR, CUVILLYFR:




Q Now, madam, when you got at the

where you state they w

re going to take
Cliff z0 out then? A 1T don't know,
had\me under thz windor, smothering me,

Cli7f wvent out or upstairs,

-~

Did he 7ot cut? A fle rent sonewhere, yes, but I
coulin't e2¢ vhere ne went,
BY THRE COURT: E
But t ékhcr trce remained w#ith yout & Yes, .sir,
BY ¥R, CUVILLIFR:
And then 1idm't 2nothér man 4 jear on the scene, after
Cliff went some rlace? A Te '.,' sir,
* Then there wers four zen? A Yes, sir., And they
iantt uostaire,
T UaT:
) it until ka yoi uestiona, Yeu will have
- opportunity ¢ tell ever thing,
BY R, CUVILLITR:
an Clik$ it @viaesa, the ther aman oved up?
A Yo » a8.rl,
nd dAld you kno 10 L other man ma?t A lo, air; I
evar deen nim bvelore.,
Did you ever kno: a wan aared Wiekey"? A T heard that®s
the man, but I never knev uilm,

THE

couUnT:

13

door of this laundry

you upstaire, didn'¢
¥r, Joseph Finchey
and I don't ¥now whether
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Q You have h®ard that since that night, do you mean?
A Yes, sir,

7 Bult you never kne- him before? A Vo, sir,
BY MR, AUVILLIFR: o

A TNon zhen the thiri or fourth man came ln,'and you were
in tle front, ~hat haprpened then® A Joscph Hinchey said,
*Ifter you letting that scream, I'11l fix you®", and he took
re by the 1}4, and Tinchey by the ghenlders, and stood me up
betieen the two tadlea, wnd Jose;h "inchey sald, *For letilng
that eorear, ,ou'll have to take 077 all your clothes", and I

didn't takec theim off, an! he tock offmy clothes, and laid -

re on the bure boards, an’ they used the floor for a toilet,

ind I had to lay on the floor, »ni they took mse away in the

back, and stood me Lp betv<en the tvo 11undry<:ablea.
) And what di3 the fourt® n do? A He hal sexual inter-
couas +ith re on the laundry table, ani went after mas the
iecond fi"a,‘L:f he‘,xve me 1 oerack in the jar, anl made me
take my teeih out, ani he yut it in my mouth, and I vomited,

-

fov, 31! cnyone haive esaxual intercourse with you after
you rere strijped naked? A Yea;r alfter the other man, yes,
he did, after the other rman,

“So7 all thease times that you had eexual intercourse
with these four hen, you say that y;u used ycur handa to try
to et rid of these mer, avay from you? A Yes, eir,

Did you scratch any of them? A 1 ascratched Hinchey
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and tried to kick him, .
7 Did you seratch Hunt? A Yes, and pushed him away

and tried to kick with my lege at him, The next day ==

f And how many times Jid you scream or holler? A Well,
I screamed all the time, asking them to let me out, and so
when Mr, Cliff got at me on the floor, I had mygrosary beads
on the floor, and he looked like an Italian, like a Catholic,
and T said, "For Jesﬁﬁg eake, T got pullgd in here tonight®,
and teold him I bhad two children, ard wans looking for my hus-
band, and he tore the beads cut of myvhind, and went for me on
the floor, and thenm had me ur on the laundry- table,

7 Now, when you went -=- d4id you have any bruises on your |
person? A Yes, sir; on my neck,

7 Anywhere else? A  There T had on my legs, where they
held wme, and the wire of my shoes went through my flesh,

When you went to the etztion\houee d44 you tell the
aamre atory to the lieutenant, you are telling here? A Yes,
air; I di4, sir,
Didi yovetell him that you wer: bruised? A I told him

what harpened; I told hir everything that happzaed,

7 Did you tell hir something was the matter with your
neck? A T didn't knov my negk was black, but it was sore them,

7 And did you take @ll your clothes out whem you went on&?:‘
A Yes, atr, They wouldn't let me put my clothes on all,

) What 414 you leave there? A Two black petticoats,

R
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Q There? A In the laundry,
ﬁ\ Did wou go brek for *hen? A Yes, slr; with the offi-
car,
% T™en? That hour? & Absut four o'clccek in the morning.
BY T COVRT:
7 D3 you gzet {nte the lanndry zhen you went back with
the officzer? ‘4 Fe,cdr; the door sas looked,
¢ D4 you aver gat into tha laundry again, after the night
in question? A T 4id, T went in to tell Mrs, .Sayrc.
A
0 Then? A The folloring loniay I couldn't move 1n the *
bed. I think it waa con Tuarday I +ent back,
Yori, rleaee Jjuat ansver my questiona, Ternyou ever
back iA $hat lzundry ajain®t A Yes, sir,

@ When 412 you 70 in there? A "en T went to give the

foreman the 3vmmons,
Nid you Fisi your clothing then? A No, eir; 1 didn't

find anything

BY ¥R, CUVILLIER:

Wov, madnm, you dreassed and went to the station house?

’

A Yeas, eir,
]
you tell the lieutanant that you left two petti-

o
coanta in thie ;lace? A T didn't tell him that tive; I don't
think I did, v

O Dil you tell him at any time? A Yes, I told him my

-

clothes was lel' behind,
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o (Question repeated)? A Yes, I did.

O When did you tell him that? A Well, T think it was
when Nr, Hinchey was locked up, I am not sure.

0 Well, how did you happren to have two petticoats?

(MR, SNITH: I object,
"R, CUOVILLIFR: T w»ithdraw the question,

* - On the i‘rial of Hinchey, you exhibited a skirt, didn't
you? A Yes,

% Andi an underskirt? A Yea,

0 And you diin't say anything then about leaving two
petticoats in the laundry? A Thy, f tcld the District Attorney
that in the Harlem Police Court,

7 Now when you went to thec station house and sav Lieuten-
ant Loughman, he assigned an officer to go +ith you? A Yes,sir,

 To the laundry? A Yes, sir. )

Q And when you v 'nt to the laundry, aud fourd it closed,
you came b ck to the staticn louse, diin't you? A Yes,

Q And then you saw Lieutenant Luu;hﬁ:ﬂ, didn't you?

A Yes,

¢ And he told jyou to come back at eight o'eclock in the
morningz, 4idn't he? A' Tes, 3ir; he sent in officer with me
to my home, ’

THE COURT: How please just ansver the questions,

You will be given a chance, a3 I told you before, to

tell anything, but you mwust aasevar his guestions, without
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adding anything to the answer, w"here possible.
BY MR, CUVILLIER:
7 Now you didn't go back to the station house any more,
did you? A VFo, sir,
7 Tell, vhy didn't you? A WVell, I went to the grocery
to get acme e;;;8 and baocon for lunch, and I seen an officer
at 135th Street, and told him what happened. Hé was an officer
on poat at Second Avenue, and he sald 1I've got no evidence,
and he said the best thing I can do is go to Court and get
a summons,
& %o, I don't want that,
THE COURT: Wiell, you asked her why she did not go
back to the station house, and she is télling you,
BY THE COURT:
7 Ie that all? A Yes, sir, The pfficer told me I had
no evidence and I had better get a summons,
And that 43 why you did not 7o back to the station
house? A Yes, air.‘
BY MR, CUVILLIER:
You 4idn't reyort then at eight o'clock in the morning,
L

as he told you te? A No, sir,

-~

o

- THE COURT: The lieutenant had no right to tell any-
thin;, but to go out and gzet the men charged with orime;
that is his business, Let us have no falee issues here,

but she h~s told you now why she did not go back,




BY MR, CUVILLIER:

N Wor after you had this convers=2tion with the officer
on post, what did youd do? A I wenti home,

0 - And stayed bome, 4idn't you? A “¥eo, sir,

7 “hen youn got howe, at five o'clock in the mornlng --
ragn't it that hour, on that Sunday morning? A It was a quar-
ter "’te} Four,

2 And. var your husband at home? A Y&n, gir; in bed,
2nleep,

Li¢ you wake him v and tell him about this? A Ho?
eir; ‘I didmn't, Ve »oke up himeelf at seven o'clock, to go to
rork, I 414n't tell hirm until then,

B7 THT -COURT:
* 4 that

e wags working on/Sunday, vae hey A Yes, sir,

) Tell, now than, he ackei you, dii you tell him? A Yes,
gir, I diin't wake hin up when I firat 2t in, because he was
in bed, drunk,

But snen he woke up you told uim? A Yes, sir,

Bt M, CUVILLIFR:

And you told him the same satory you are telling now?
A ’ch, sir,

2 And what did he tell you about it? A Why, he told
ne == |

¥R, SMITH: I object to that,

THE QPURT: Objeotion sustained, It 1s entirely




. r % go
immaterial what anyone told her, as I told you before,

YR, OCOVILLITR: rxeartion,

BY ¥R, CUVILLI¥R:

%, Yell, you 41d nothing on that day, Sunday, in regard
to finding out these men? A Wo, air,
Andi you atayed in the house on Sunday night? A Yes,

vag in bed, 1 was in

-

2 Aud ot Wonday? A On Moniay

bed, and .y bones waré all sore, and I was spitting up dlood
v
@ o ¢ wbuaz I =at,
LT any aof fleer cowe to your house about the case?
”
(! ;:54, Bk,

all, =hon iid you,-0 %o Court? A “I think it was

’
Wedaesday I » Gourt %o zet . sumnonn for Mr, CLIf7, the
fereman o e laundry,
/
L you zot a sumoenad? A Yea, sir,
n! that e vas iiamlesed, wasn'%t it?
te SHITH: I object to that as imraterial, irrele-
v »
. vant 1208 nt,
\
TIE  COURT: T will sustain the cbjestion, There may
a ‘
r mey n vre been/mistake made, and this case will not
be Jdismisved on any mistake, It #il1 be sjyuarely be
’L- w Al &
regsenlbed 1o the jury on the evidence, ind what some
siotrate myy rave Jone an to Ur, ClAff ie not pertinent
or materiul here, 'r, Clif'f may be walking the streets
‘ E
now, & guilty man, or he way be iunnocent, Ve will come
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to him later,
BY MR, CUVILLIER:

A Wow dil you say anything to Lieutenant Loughman, or to
any police officer, at the time that jyou made thias complaint,
that this man Munt #a3 ons of them? A I d1dn't know hie name
then,

v That? A T 4idn't kncw his name then,

Y Tid you knor it was he? A T didn't know his name,

BY THE COURT:

N You had hir in rind when you w2re telling Lieutenant
Touzhman your story? 4 Yes, air,

Put you 4idn't know who he 7as® A Vo, wsir,
BY MR, CUVILLIVR:

e You id on yeur daircct examination that you thought you
kxner the cdefendant Munt before this nigzht in question? A Yes,
to see him,

, 207 care jyou to think you knew him? Did you ever
are hiw befeore® A Yaa, Tn 125th Streect, a ocduple of times,
Thareaboit? A At Second Avernue and 135th Street,

v

%eil, » yenr before or a month before? A seen him

TR L Y S P

w8t snummer? A Yesa, air,

N  And thet's the only time? A Tea, sir,
d That? A Yes, air,

‘ni thin night =-




BY THE COURT:
0 And you had a good look at him during those four hours
in the laundry, didn't you? A Yes, sir,
6 And you see him here now? A Yes, sir,
Q And you have no doubt, havd you, that he 13 one of the
four men that did what you have desoribed? A No, sir,
BY MR, CUVILLIER:
Q@ Now you know that thls boy has a twin brother, don't
you? A Yes,
2 How do you know that? A JWhy, he came up to my house
about seven or eight times since that happened, |
BY THF COURT:
Q Who did? A lr, Hunt's brother,
Yes, that is,a person called himself Hunt's brother?
A Yeu, sir,
But you don't know whether he is his twin brother or
not, do~you? A No, sir,
0 He told you that? A Yes, 8ir; he told me so,

Q And that's all you know about his being his twin brother

' or not? A Yes, sir; that's all,

o L o e

BY MR, CUVILLIER:

R o

Q Now dij you know where Hunt lived, the defendant?
A I did not,
Q Did you see him from the time of this alleged assauls,

or rape was committed omn you, up to the time of his arrest,
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on November 3rd? A No, oir; I didn't see him since,
0 At the time he was arrested, w7as he gith aﬁz man?®-
A Yes, eir,
i And that man you subsejuently found out was his brother?
A Yes, sir,
7 That ii° you eay tc the officer +hen you amaw Hunt?
A There #as no officer on post, I couldn't sce any, and I
went to the Btation house,
Well, where was Hunt then? A T think it was 122nd
Street and Second Avenue,

Q@ And he was with this other mar? A Yes, sir; his

brother, cowing up the avenue,

2 And you looked for an officer? A Yes, air,

?  And you couldn't find one and went %o the atation
house?” A Yee, oir,
¢ And broucht an officer with you? A Yes, eir,

Ani.what did you say to the offiocar, when the: officer

and you esaw Tunt? A The officer came down Second Avenue, and
T told him -~ T pointed outthis man, with hie brother, I pointed
him out to the afficer, and told him he was one of the men
who atticked me in the laundry,

Q Did you say whickh one attacked you? 2 Yes, T did,
I put my hand on hie shoulder,

) Nid you put your hand on his brother? A Vo, sir,

7 Did you eay to the officer, "Take both of them"?
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A No, eir; I didn't, His brother ran,
BY THE COURT:
N You say you fointed this brother out to the officer?
A Yes, sir,
Q And no one elase there? A Yes, eir.
7 And did the officer arrest him® A Yes, air,
A" And you had no doubt abou this éefendant'a identity?
A-Ro, Biy,
BY ¥R, CUVILLITR:
Y Did the officer run after the othsr man?
YR, [UITH: T object %o that, |
TUF 200RT: T #1411 exelude that, You have a right
to show that she at any time meie statements differing
from thosa male hers today, that 1z ~roper sross exarina-
tion, bkut she auvn ahé did not,
0 That 4id the defewdant s~y *hen he v arrented? A He
d1dn't eay anythins until ;:e ne near the Court Fouse, and he
g2i4 he was innocent, ani manted me 4o take him back to the
laundvy, to Nr, Sayre, and T said ¥r, Savra 3idn't know any-~
thing about what had hanrnened,
N Did he attemrt 40 run aray?
MR, SMITH: T obhjmnt to that,
THF COURT: Sustained,

M, MUVILLI®R: . Exoation,

@ Yis brother ran avay? A Yeo, sir,
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BY THE COURT:

You mever mi'@ any charge sgainat the hrother, 444 you?

TiE COURT: Well, that ia a different proposition
wtogeiher, Yr, Cuvlillier, Proceed,
BYTHE COURT:

Ne you moan to a2y that thls man aspoke to you about
the launiry on tue ray %o the aiation house? A Yaa, sir; he
‘anted me to ;;ke nirm back to the launiry, to prove that he was
lnnocént, that he was not one of the Aan.

n Well, whu nad said anything to him about the laundry?
You didn't aany anything abcocut the i¢undry, did you? A BHe
ranted to know why he was locked up, GHe asked the officer, and
the ofilicer told his whai I told thue-officer,

You told tie officer that he wis outraging you ia the
laundry? A Yes, eoir,

And then he wanted you to take hia to the laundry?

<TE

BY MR, CUVILY.IER:
Now you knew a woman by tle n.ae of Mrs, Gibeson, don't
you? A Yen, I do, I kno» ber for {ourteen years,
THFE COURT: I told you before that if ycu would only
ansver the juestions yes or no, we would get! along faster,
BY MR, CUVILLIER:

~

And on thie Sunday you «ent to Mra, Cibeon's house, didm'




36
you? A FNo, I didn't, Sﬁnday a week from that I went to her
house, .

7 You testified before Judge Rosaleky, didn*t you, in
the Hinchey case? A Yﬁp.
7 Did you teetify that you went to Nre, Cibscn's, that
Sunday? A I didn't ;o near Vrs, Gibeon's,
THEE COURT: Now whish Sunday?
¥P, CUVILLIER: The Sunday after the assault,
BY MR, CUVILLIER:

Thie hajpened on Saturdey night and Sunday morning?

Ll

A Yez; a weel froe that fSumday I war irn ¥re, Gibacr's house,

~  You nzard two scren testify in that case, 4idn't you?

A Yes, and falsely, They were rald to do it,
THE COURT: e , vlease jroduce those witnesses here,
if you wish to, Ve don't care what they teatified to
in another trial, Let them ccre here bofore this jurj,
if ycu have suci itngsaes, ind the jury wil! not infer c:::a
snything from 7hat !y, Cuvillier asks in this respect,
¢ to any differing atoterent on the witness's part,
[t io the anewer which you must remerher, gentlemen of
the jury, in connection with the question, WHow this
roman dniss that she ever mwade a differeat statiem,
BY MR, CUVILLIER:
n Were you in 2 anloon?

THT COURT: Then?
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MR,“CUVILLIFR: = On Sunday morning, the morning of
the assault,
A ¥o, sir,
TET COURT: - Do ycu mean befor= or after the assault?
YR, CUVILLIFR: Afterwarde,
Q About eleven o'clock in the morning? A WNo, eir; no, sir,
N Did you oty at ¥rs, 2ibs;n'e house, on thec morning after

the ansault harrered?
~
TR* COURT: Che h1s already ansavered that, She says
no, rositively nc, And ale added further that the state-
rent, 1f any was made that she wae there, was falee,
BY 'R, CUILLLIFH:
Tan't that s@o? LCid you nay that, radam? A Yes, sir,

It is false that vou wars at Vra, Gibeon's, that morn-

Did you zive a dencrirtion of the defendant to the police
officer, at the time you mude a complaint? A (No answer,)
BY THT COURT:

Do you know what s dsscoripticn meanse? A Yes,

Did you tz2ll him »hat he locked like? A Yea; and that
he wore a cap down on hiu eyss,

¢ But thz police diln't get hir, though, didl theyr A WNo,
sir; they didn't,
THE COURT: . The police are not on trial here.

‘R, CUVILLIFR: No, eir, That's all,




MR, SMITH:

THT COURT:

That's all,

Now, madam, you may take a seat back

there in the Court room, but you must not talk to anyone,

becauae you may be recalled as ¢

aitﬁeaa.

e

STEPHEN LOUCHMAR, of the 4lst Brecinct,
itnesa called in babulf of the FPeorle, being duly
orn, teetified as fol 'owm:
)
DIR™CT EXAVINATION RY MR, SHITH:
Lieutenant, on the F4th day of October, 1015, did you
sec the corrlainant in thia case, Katherine Kern? A Yes, sir.
" Mare 311 you firnt eee her? A 'In the station house,:
13r ’reoinet,
And »hat {ime of th vy or riht 8 1t? A ‘bout a
juarter to ur in the rning,
An re you on desk duty at that time? Yes, sir,
he came into the station house at that tirme?
A Yea, F.
o you remerbe t her condition 8 at>~that time?
i ir ) &*1 L boa 0/ her dress was
21l open, all ¢ vy Lo the okin, a she had a dishevelled
appearance nll the -ay throush,
v you b A ocnvers tlén with her, d4id you? A Yes,
A ad : it of ¢ comersation what Jdid you do?
\ he id that, in 125th T'rest, betw-en Second and Third
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BY THE COURT:
Q No, She made a complaint, didn't she? A Yes, sir,
Q Againot whom? A Against fou;‘men.
Q And that related to tne occurrence in the laundry?
A Yes, sir; on 135th Street,
N And you made an entry at the time in your book, didn't
you? A Yes, sir,
N And that shovs that the comrlaint was made at what
hour? A At about 5:45,1
BY #m, SMITH:

0 Did you notice that her neck was bruised? A I didn't

notice tﬁh1.
;h§ ginrly toll you she had been assaulted And(xaredin
certain etore?
KR, CUVILLIER: I object to that,
MR, SMITH: I will withdraw that,
THE COURT: The people have a right to show that this
woman maje a comrlaint, without naming the peorle against
hom she made the complaint,
BY THAY COURT:
7 Tell, she told you that she didn't know the names of
the mén, didn't she?t A Yes, oir,
BY MR, SNMITH:

Did she tell you that it wsae ipn 2 laundry? A Yes, sir,
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Q You didn't go but you sent an officer with her? A Yes,
7 Did you see her again that morning? A Yes, she came
back shortly afterwards, after, about fifteen or tventy minutes
afterwardsm with the officer that. I sent out with her,

n And a report was made tc you at the time? A Yes, sir,

Q And that report was what, if anything? A That she had
been -=

THE COURT: fe, that ic not adwmiseible.
BY THE COUFT:
She 410 7o out with an officer? A Yes, sir,

A And returned ai£h that off{icer tc the station house?
A Yen, sir,

BY YR, SMITH:

2 And what harpened after that?y A She left for home,
accompanied by that officer,
BY THE COURT:

2 You sent an officer home ~ith hert A Yes, sir; the
same officer, n ;?
BY YR, SMITH:

Did you see her again, that morning? A Wo, sir,
CROSS EXAVINATION BY MR, CUVILLIER:
2 Now, orficer -~

BY THE COURT:

Well, 411 you form any opimion as to her souriety when
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she was there? A Well, I was under the impre-sion that she
misht have besn drinking, your Honor,

Y But she understood apparently what you 92id to her?

A Yea, oir,

Ro difficulty about that? A FNo, sir.

And she »ac not lr asuch a state of intuxication as not
to know what she was deing? A DNo, nir; ehe wae rational,

You wouli not call her drunk, in other mords? A Yes,
fosisively ahe mas not drunk, 1 understovd everything that
il 8ne segned to understiud me,

2

Ani you RAvVE 3c&n 4 aumber oI urunkan poople in your

time, have you not? A Yaa, sir,

) A e O

Do you remember aprearing in tne Folice Court? A Yes,si)
And o yeu remerber 2 laivyér named TLevy defending this
defendant and Hinchay? A I éon*t kno 0 the lawyer was,
In recwronase to uestiun why you didn't euter the
lal w the Door, di U way that ahe s drunk and you
li n't believe iax?
. IT: I obhjeet %o to¢ fors ol 4he Juestion,
WURD: ¢ll, L 2.y ne ¢il enter the complaint
in the book,
TR i g o, your Yonur; [ diin't enter the
covpladnt, bul I sutered the fuct of o officer leaving

ith the ¢ lalaant nd Lue locution,ut that time,
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Q But you didn't know yhom to enter a complaint against,
did you? A 1Wo, eir; Iwans araiting developments in the case,

BY MR, CUVILLIZR:

'
Q FRo» did you say in the policecourt that this woman

was drunk? A If T remember rightly, I said she might have
been drunk, from her aypearance she mizht have been drunk,

: Ani that 1lg the reason rhy you didn't enter the come
Plaint? A WNo, uir;‘ T didn't make any such atatement, coun=-
sellor,

¢ You didn't anter any comrlaint, 4id ybu? A TNo, sir,

THE SOURT: Weii, that is immaterial, whether he
entered 2 cowplaint or mnot, The suestion iz whether this
ro.nn male s comrlaint, and she did, and that's all the
tat requirea, The fajlure of a police officer to do any-
thdirgx, Coens not amount to anything, except as to his

eerit a4 police offivev;-;n1 the Lieutenant says that
omitted nothin;; thitl he ordered done,
Ta that 207 A Yes, slr,
You w2rs not undar any obligzation to enter any com=
ain s, untll yeou kng” 27ainet whom it should be made? A Wo,sd)
THE COURT: Now, the Lieutenant is not on trial for
naglect of luty, but, even if he llg neglect his duty,
it would not wmattcr here, All the;?equiren is that the

wouan nrade a complaint as 3oon as rossible after the
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ocourrence, and she nsaye that she went direct to the
stat lon houase, ‘ﬂiLLJTT: the tira that ahe got there,
and he tells the tine that ahe leflt with an officer,
who wzxs sent in conasequance of whit she told him,
Io that so, ollloex? A Tas, alr,
Aad that was a quarter of four iv ths wmoraing? A Yes,si:

THE COURT: PFow, don't nisunieretand ther, Nr., Cuvil-
liex, If the Lisutinanmt 23ic ske »ae drurk at that time,
you have the right to bring that out, and to shcs that she
or any other witness wmalie Gifferesrt atatements elserhere,

thot 43, any statencnts shich differ rrom those made here

bafere this jury, and the jury must determine hether there
iz a difference or not, and how much weighi they will give
the contradlction or cliliference, if ene¢ should appear,

BY R, CUVILLIFK:

7 She 4id arpear to you to have baen Arinking? A I

il, counaseklor, that she miyht have Deen drinking Irom Ler
Arpearance, I didn*'t srell any liquor off her, and I could

underatant! har astatement,

Tell, nov, officer, you tentified in the Hinchey case?

3

Aind this meation waas put to you by me:
*) What =i her condition, if you know, as to being sober?
Di1 she arpasr to be drinkinz? A Her condition at the time,

I iidn*t form any ovinion about it, any definite opinion about
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her condition®”,

A That's right,

Q@ "Aes 1o vhether a3he #as Jdrunk or sober, she ceriainly
wasn®t drunk”? A That's right,

| THE COUAT: That ia shat he 334d here today,
BY iR, CUVILLITR:
. to that,

Au den't ronester testilyiag then/in the Magis-
trates Court in the dlacuey case? 2 T 4o net, Ly ostatement
wau the sime abt all tises, aa T rsmevder, couusellor, I stated
‘1n the agistrates ?.usp tiat thic wowan might have Leen drunk,
mi ht h?u%bu::n arinkiag; taat .:he looked 26 LI she might
have been drinkiag,

2 Al for that reason you didp't pay any attention to her

atory? A Vell, T 4did pay attention to her story,

A But dld vou say that in the Magietrates Court? A I

doa'l cemember thot,
You wmay have soid that, though? 4 Tes, 1 may have,

THE COURT: ieli, that is imnmaterial, whatihe ﬁy

have uone, IT you have any avidence of hiz making contra=-
ictory statements at any t4ere, you mny bproduce it,
And 1% coee only to the credibility of the witnessa, His
teptinony amgunts only to her makipg o complaint, and Be
e rot menticned the name of lunt or anyone else,

BY TH® GO'RT:

“he did make = oovmplaint in the ntation house, didn't
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she? A Yee, sir, .
THE COURT: And that is all the law requires,

BY ¥R, CUVILLIFR:

Q vell, what is the comrlaint that ahe made? A Bhe
gtatsd that at 11:45 the ni_ht befors -- that was cn the 23rd
of Nctober -~ she was in 135th Sirsaet batveen Oecond and Third
Avenue, and was suddsnly graapaed by th2 baeX of the neck by a
man, ani “= put his other hand ovar her mouth, and rushsed her

into the pramisean on 135th Street, and 3incther man let them in

the door, anl both of them criminally assaulted her,
BY THE URT:
" Tell, 40 you me2an that they raped her? A Yes, air,
f That wae her charge? 2 Yes, air, ifnd, shortly
afterwarde, twe other mer cawe in, and they also raped her}
anpd they keprt her there unfilvn juarter off four, until the time -
she care to tre etation house, ®he n~4d ehe ocame Cirectly
frcs there to the station house,
BY 'R, CUVILLIFR:

o 41l she give you a description of the men? . A HNot

at the time, T 4dldn't o into the detailas ¢f desoritpion.
I oent tho officer lorth=ith «with her,
2 7 DL you aok her if 2he kner the firet mant A I mizht

have, but I 4don 't remerbdaer that I 114,
¥ell, 413 ahe say that she knsw them, or any of thes,

eithar jerscnally or by nawe? A ¥o, air; eshe didn't mention
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any names,

. @ Did ehe any she had seecn any of them before? A Not
that I recolleot,.

7 Did you ask her, when she came back with the officer
from the laundry, to ra:oéf‘nn the 3ta£1un houase at eight
o'clock in the morning? A TYeo,

) And she z2aid she would? A Yes.

& And she didn't? A Bhe dian‘t,

'dE COURT: Well, that is conceded, that she dii not.

She w20 not obliged to o buack, That dces not affect

the case, vne say or thec other,

BY Tilk. COURT:

You had ne nevs for her ai eiht o'clock in the morning,
had you? A WNe, eir; no, your Ilonor, ly object in getting
her back was tc¢ send an officer over there with her, to take
some of the men, when the place 7as open, She said she misased
some combe there,

BY MR, CUVILLITR:

/44 ehe say that she lelt tuo petticoats, or an under-
gkirt there? A 1 don't recall her saying that, but she said
they undres:ed her, took all her clothing off,

N But the 8aid nothing about leaving any of her clothing
fhcre? A 1 don't remeuber that she sali that, counsellor,

You didn't send anyone to get Lhe clutping that she

left there? A No, air, v
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7 And 1f she eald that she had left clothes there, you
would have sent an officer there?
MR, SNITH: Objected to,
THT COURT: Sustalined,
Q UWNow, officer, the corrlainant brouzht to the station house
A man by the name of Cliff, didn't she? A That was that jues-
tion, counsellor?
0 (Juestion repeated)? A Yea; sir; seome duys’arter-
rards,

0  4ind what statement did she make to you thent A She

a8 accompanied by an officer at the time, She stated that this
man C1iff -- she had him in the Fifth District Gourt on a summons,
and .that the liagistrate and the District Attorney held a sort
of investigation into her case, and, for sore reason, discharged
this man, I don't know what the reason waz, but that was her
atatement,
Nid she at any time from the time you first saw her

until the lwst time, when Clif[ was b::u;ht to the station house,
3ay anything ab,ut'“uﬁt, the d2fendant? A 'Not by name, didmn't
mention Hunt's name,

N TWere you on the desk the duy when Hunt was arraigned
before you? A I waen't on the desk, but I was present at the
time he was brought in,

And you heard the conversation that she had with thc\\

officer atthe desk, didn't you? A In the Hunt case?
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O Yea? A No, I don't recall the conversation, coune
cellor,
7 DPid you hear any conversation by the levenlant Junt
\
fith the officer al the desk? L No, T don't varembar any of
the conversation,

THE COURT: Tell hat do you wish to bring out?

"hat Tunt denisd hias uilte

R, CUVILTIFR: T08, 8i¥; and the conversation he
vi 714k $h2e cormplainant thers, and that she uuile contra=
213tocy © orents,

" 20 i Y:». T A wnd ii th ha A0

innocant and he cliims it novw Wik nevor adoitted hie

) ’
uils, T ¢ conceded, I #ill allow you to prove,
1{ *hey usint to prove by the officer that he 4id make
issicnn o iit, %o .provs whatever you can as to what
3 id .,
YR, CUVITLI'D: My objcct is to show that the come
, t tralict hersell there,
THE COURT: ¢ t conpl2inant cannot be contra-

11icied by proving hat the derfendant sald, do you under=-
tand? Y ¢ ;reve that ghe e Aifferent staterents

elsehere from what ahe has maie hare,

Nov, o*fiecer, di4 she wake any statements there? A Well,

L

counszellor, I wae very busy with other duties at the time, and
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I didn't pay any attention to the matter,

THE COURT: Of course, the jury understand that they
must pass on the credibility of witnesees, and the Court
hae only to rule on the questions of law that arise, and
I eay only what I deem it necessary to say, in vier of
the croas examination of counsel for the defendant, It
is not intended to limit his right, or prejudice the
iefendant ir any way, but to keep Lhe reul iassues before
you, The reall issue here is whether he did or did not
agsault this woman in the way she cluims, énd he s=ys that
he did not, and that he ie¢ innocent, Now is that clear,
"r. Cuvillier?

R, COVILLIVR:

»
@

» 9ir; that's perfectly clear,

Thatt's all,

(Tre fourt ainonished the jury in sccordance with
Section 415 ¢f the Code of Criminal Procedure, and took

a recgege until five minutez past t.o o'elock,)
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AFTER RECESS:

EDWSRD SIEBER, of 22 F.st 136th Street, a nit=

nese called in behalf of the People, being duly sworn,
testified as follows:
BYRFCT EXAVINATION BY MR, SMITH:
N New vhere were youv living on the ES;d of Gectober, 19157
A 32 Frat 139th Street,
®  And what was your business at that time? A Plumber,
©  "here wac your rlace of businesa then? A 332 East 139th

Street, and 45 Eaat 138th Street,

Q@ Do you knmow 7t, Xernt A Yee, sir,
A Te you Xnow “Mra, Kern? A Yes, sir,

) T4d you see 'rs, Kern on ihe night of the 23rd of

October, 1 st year? A Yes, sir,

o you knov that womnn (indicating the complaining wit-

air, ot

£ Ie that the woman that you Inow as lra, Kern? A Yes,sir,

0 Lere 17 ycu eee Yrs. Kern on that day? A About
eleven c'clock at nizkht, at my front door, I have a private
house, and the deor is even ~ith the level ol the street, at
22 Fast 12%th Otreet,

Ard de you know vhat her huaband's bueiness was at that

time? W
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TFE COURT: Well, that is immaterial,
¥R. SMITH: He wae working for him at the time, and
ahe vent to inquire about her puaband.
BY THF COURT: 7
7 You saw her that night at eleven o'clock? A Yes, sir;
about that,
BY ¥R, SMITH:
Q And what was her conlition at that time as to sobriety?
A Fothing out of the usual,
BY THE COURT:
at i the uaual? A %Yell, as much as I eee of

r, she waa sobaer, in h2r usulil condition,

i s8he Jlrunk or 30ber? A She =23 sober,

Did you talY ~ith her? 2 Ye3, sir; she asked me where
er husb:i:nd was,

ider hufan’! worked for you, 413 he? A Yoo, @ir,
(ORNSS EXAMINATION: NOBE.)

JOoHN EFERN, of 129 East 130th Street, a witneas
called in behalf of the Feorle, being duly sworn, testified
as tollove; gt

DIRFCT EXANINATION BY MR, SMITH:
0 The cor;loinant in this cuse, Taitherine Kerm, is your

wife? A Yes, air,
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o

How long have you been married? A 233rd of August,
1915,

e And on the 23rd and 34th of October, 1C15, "here were

you living? A 139 East 130th Street,
¢ low do you rerember the woraing of the 24th day of
October, itld? A Yes, eir,
Rov did you see your wife taal morming? A Yes, 8ir,
What time? A nat was at seven o'clock,
where ai. you see- your wife? A Up in our house, rhere
e are living, '

Up in your own house? A Yes, sir,

Ana 11 you notice what the conaition of your wife was
at that tine? A Yes,

ell, atute to the Court au. jury what her ccndition
18 at that time as you ooserved it, A Her hair v hanging

all around, and kwotted up, and on tae slie of the neck here

(indiicating), there vus a lump, a scratch, on it, anl on one
shin i1t looked like a4 scratch,
ell, "u» it 4 scralcu or bruise? A VYes, sir; a brulse,
I at the condition of her hair? A Hsr halr
all mixed u ni everything, And she started to comb it

cut, and ther- w-.s kind of chips of wood or splinters in it,
2 Now 74id you have any conversation with her as to where
o
she had heen the niht beofore? A Yes, elr,

n And “hat did she say, if anything? A She tcld me that
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she went out looking for me, and that she got pretty near

e~ killed on account of me being out, thit night,

. Did she state ~here ste had been? A She sald that she
rant around in 3aleoons, in different :1;‘0-30, looking for me,

o low,d45 she tell you anyining he pened to her? A And
about coming trrough 125th Street, »nd a man caught her by the
pouth, and drugge v in o louwndyy, ond ~hat the cother wen
asue -taers,

CROSS EXAMINATIOR EX JUVILLIE

—_—

.
-

ey

3
9

Nr, Kern, ysu were arinking that uight, veren't you?

» dd int't juh? A Sir?

You got intoxicatod, jou el TLil, veren't you?t

1 n ei - ; en? * T went, to~bad, I don't
kuo .t tire it , houuver,
ad Lontl Lne Lol your wife came in, do you?
Ro, olr,

fou roke up in the zorairg and fand your wilfs at home?

qa And you .ere ctill uwmdaer the fuiluence of liguer,
sr2ntt yoult A VYez, ulr; 1n & kin sturcry,
0
Y And &0 you raumepd Lt 1lins you thoase thinge that
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0 And what di<? you say to your wife when she tu.
you about this? A T asked her if she got any of them,
and she sald no, not at that time,
n And di' you ‘o to work? A Yes, sir,
B And aiad yoﬁ g0 to the prolice station to find cut whether

the nen could be found? A No, s8ir; I didn't go.
/

You 14dn't make any attempt at any tine? A VWVell, after

that Sunday I sent arcund, but I couldn't identify the men,
Yeu went around? A Yea, sir,
Did you zo t¢ the station house? A No, sir,

" You didn,t tertify in this case befeore, did you, in the

Iarler Ccurt? 2+ Yes, sir,
In the Harlem Court? A Yea, sir,
N In the Hunt Caoe? A I w#as up there, I don't know if
it wacHunt,
You 7ere net called as 3 witneas, were you? A I
teetified to *hot harrened that Saturday and Sunday,
Werc you called an a witnesa? A Yes,
7 In the Punt or "inohey cuse, whische A 1In the Hinchey
case, -
*
THE COURT: fell, he meana the whole transaction,
BY THE COURT:
2 Do you not? A Yes, ‘air,
You don't know who you testified against? A No, elr,

BY VR, CUVILLIER:
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Q Did your wife say anything about this defendant Hunt
being one of the men? A Vell, she didn't mention any names
to me,
7 I mean after he wae arrested, di3 she tell you he was
.one of the men, Hunt? A Yes,
Q@ When did she tell you that?t A That w23 about two or
three days afterwarde,
Q After you say he was arrcsted? A After the man got
taken in, then she found out what the naﬁo was,
0 And what did she say? A She told me that she had caught
the second man, one of the other men,
Q@ Fow, when you noticed your wife on Sunday morning, did

she a pear to you to have been drinking? A VFo, sir,

Q She does drink, doesn't she? A A glase of beer,
‘Sometimes we zet a pint of beer nizht time, or Buniays, and
she takeifi glass of beer,

;hat time did you get home on Sunday, after you had

finished your work? A I got home around six orlsoven o'clock,

n In the evening? A TYea,

N 7Vaa she home? A Tes,

) And 114 she atay home that Sunday night? A Yes,

Q And she wa , home on Monday? A Yecs, eir; all day,

Q Do you ¥nov a woman named Nrs, Gibeson? A !ea,'lif.

N There does she live, do you know? A On Second Avenue,

I don 't know the number.
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Q Tave you ever been in her house? A Yes, sir,
Do you know whether your wife wam there on the morning
of October 23rd, the rorning of the assault?
| %R, SHITH: The 34th,
BY 'R, CUVILLIWD:

66 The 241, A ¥Wot a2 I knov of,

0 D4 ahe %el)l you she hnd besn there? A I don't remember
her telling w2 thnt,

¢ Do vou kpnow of anyboly by the nare ¢f Mary Ellery?

¢ Or YVarcetet Cortira® A Yc, sir,
T Fov <o vou kpow a wan by tie nare of Cormerford, who

livee on tre 3nre flcor “here you 'ive? A T don't know the

name, J don't krc ny of tfe names in the houre,
Tell, 4314 yeu hawe € telk ~ith the wan who lives across
the hall fror vhere you Zive, cbout thie case? 4 Ro, sir,
You aay th! ‘ cor ~ife abouvt CliffT A Did I
say anythin - ¢ bout 2im?
0 Yes? A "ell, =mot that I knew of,

e i yotn 2ty anythine te your wife about Clifi paying

Lher woney i i1 care? A ¥a, sir,
" Aire wre of thaty A Yes, eix; T am sure of it,
2 Did you say anything to the woman that lives across
the hall fre y boeut CUAFT paylng her any money in this

—r



case? A WNo, sir,

-

JAKES STACR,

J.
called in behald of the Peo

teatified 28 follows:

DIRECT EXAMIRATION BY Wi, SRITd:
)  dow, oifleccr, ycu remssb
A I do, 8ir,
ere eis you anbovi [fou
A I was in lae siatiova house,
© And that is located rhex

Lezxlngton Avenue,

in tue County of iea Yo
Won, oL tuat aornln , di
rRatneline Kern?
i ° 17i H Lail TS ENN
A 1 414, elir,
8Y THF CR7T:
AL Lere 4ila jou see i
BY uR, SKNITH:
O ARn 2 yeL LIl reuerve
1 cn the statlon licuee posi.
‘he stavion houase LO8LY
né were you cn ;out at
houas? 4 ‘n totion

i
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¢l the 43rd Precinct, a witness

ple, being duly aworn,

er the 34tL day ¢f October, 19157
&

r o'closk on that morning?

a
e? A 138th Street, nsar
1 '4d Tes, siz,
you gce the ecaplalinant,

Flease, Xatherine Kern,

r firet? A In the statlon house
Juty at 1he tiwe? A No, eir,

A Cug,y 61T,

the tlme phe was in the station

house,
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BY THE COURT:

) What do you mean the station house post? A It takes

in Lexington Avenue, from 134th Stree? to 137th Street,

7 Do you mean you were on the beat where (he atation
house is located? A Yq=8, eir,
BY MR, SMITH:

£  Nov you recsivel a ues:age from the lieutenant in

charge? A Yes, air,

Q@ And you wvent to tne i}ttiou house? A I was in the
station house, I had to call in every hour, and I ha‘renéd
to be calling ia, ‘
Q Did you see the ccaplalining ~itness in the station house
that morning? A Yes, sir,
And what was her condltion when you first saw her?
A Her hair wae hanging down her back, and her clothing was
torn, and she seemed to be very much excited.
"R, CUVILLIEm: I object to that,
BY MR, S¥ITH:
» ell, was she excited or not? A  Yes, 8hc was excited.
THE COURT: I will allow {it.
¥R, CUVILLIFR: Exception,
BY THE COURT:
Did you nozice her condition as to sobriety? A Yes,sir,
© Wae she sober or drunk? A BShe was sober,

BY MR. SMITH:




Q
vhere?

-tyetreen
~

gy
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r

And where did you o with her, ‘that morning, if any-

A I went with her to the laundry in 125th Street,

St
Second and Third Avenue:z,

"=8 the eosrlainant, Katherine Kerm, with

4

you at that

tine? A  Yee, sir,

% Ani *hat 417 you ¢o when you get to the lawndry? A I
oked the wgran to show me the rlace where she was aassaulted,
nd she reont tc the door of the laundry, anéd I told her to
vy the door, i it wvue open, "Bscaune", I said, "if there is
anyone in ihere and they sce a pollcemun, they willi not open
the Joor®, ina she triedfthe door and it was locked, apd I
tried it, ang lt:was ]c;kéu.

yna gould jau see inuide of the laundry at that time ih
the murniog, Gouvld you see If anycone waa in the laundry?
A Yes,
q 23 unyone in the laundry at the time? A No, air,
Y I am gpreaking no® of the frent part of the laundry,
A Yea, sir,
You 20 Alirx': ee into the rear rgomn? A HNo, air,

7 That dii you do then? A Te came basck to the stationm

house.,

7 And you mauie your rerort to the Lisutenant? A Yea,sir,

What A1 you do after that? A The lieutenant told me
to aocompany the wowan aome to her house, 5
Then a i1 you do? A T accorpanied her to her

A




house, a8 far as the doorway of her house,
A And where waa she living at the time? A '130th Street
ani Lexiagton Avemuz, the northvaat sorner,

Aad you saw her enter her house? A TVes, sir,

n o Ard th&t tlue was that as far as you can remember?

»

Yell, 4ild you make any note of ihe tire? A FNo, sir,
You firzt sas her about rhat tiac? A Detvesn three

and four, aboul a juarter to fcur,

0 And theu jou went o thle launiryt A Yes, 2ir,
7 That =@ sonc distunce, : it not? A Tez, sir; cbout
a block and & halil,

And you “alhked Lack to the static: house with her?
A Yes )l sir,
0 And then the licutonant tzid you o sacort her home?
A Yes, ®ir,
ind where di” you 0?7 A& To Toxington Avenue, and north

n Lexirztou Avenueg tc iloutn Jdireet,

A And you didnrt see tlie corplelirant after that, did you?

‘A Wo, eir,

CROEE8 EXAVIFATICN BY kR, CUVILLIEF:

Q WNow, officer, you testified in response to his Honor's




juestion, did you not -~ his Honor wanted to know if she
was eobrr, and you said yéa. Now you remember testifying
in the linchey case, don't you? A Yes,

A This question was put to you on cross examination:

"Q ¥Vill you s ear that she =is sober?"

THE COURT: Fo, ask him first if he remerbers the

Mmestion, ' ’
BY "R, OUVITLLIER:

A No vou remember this question: ®*Q Will you ;wear that
ghe was sober? A T will swear that she was well able to take
care of herself™, A (No answer,)

BY THE COURT:

7 Do yon remember ziving that testimony, officer? A

BY MR, CUVILLIFR:

7 Do yon remember this question: "C Till you evear
she 723 30ber? A That's a questicn for = physician®, Do
you romember that? A Yes, sir,

TIIE COURT: Well, but the Court of Arpeals differs

vith you there, ne Court of Appelaec says that even a
child of aix ye>rs of aze ean say whvfher a person is
irunk or eaber,

BY THE COURT:

n Now you have seen a lot of resple in your time, haven't

you? A Y’ gir.
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n And they were not all sober, were they? A Wo, eir,
7 Now on your beat you have net lots of drunken men and
women, haven't you? A Yes, sir, :
n And you can tell whether the man or woman is sober
or drunk? A Yes, sir,

N So that it is not a question for a phyaieian, 1= 1t?

A Vell, the counsellor at that time, your lonor, was Rrying

aall

to bring out whether this woman was under the influensce of

intoxisaticn,

7 Tell, that ie what te is trying to do now, and what we

"

are 211 trying to dbring out, e she or wae she not drunk?

A Tell, she ve no signe of bein drunk, She seems to be
rerfectly able to take care of herself,
In your orinion, she was sober? A Yes, sir,

A You would not h.ve talen her up on a*charze of intoxica=-
tion on ycur post; would fsu? A Ulo, sir, :

. |
. AR hen you s>y she CO(bivﬁLkC care-—of hersel,f in
ur opinion, you mean that she wasa JObiI: p Yes, sir,

"  But you ould not svear *hat she hid not taken a drink?
3ir: 1 would not,
BY MR, CUVILLIER:

Di1 you smell her breath? A TVell, I found no smell

of drink on her at any tiwe,

T am 29kin~ vou 47 you srelled her breath? A No,

0 C the juestion wia put to you: "Q You have
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arrcrasted many persons, haven't you, charged with intoxzication"?
A Yes, .

Q@ And your ana4er was: "A TYes"? A Yes, sir,

" Do you rqmember this question: "Q You can reobgnisl
persons under the influence of liquor? A Yes,

*Q And tell whether such person h22 been under the 16-
fluence of lijuor? A Yes, your Nonor, |

*3 In thie cass, wae there anything in the arpearance of

this woman? A Your !onor, the wowran was very much excited,

and when you get a person excited like that, they look as thoughe
“Q Diid you emell her breath? A I didn't amsll any

liquor on her breath,"

Did you so tesiify there? A Yes,

Now jou-can state whether the wosan was drunk or sober,
can't you? A I can state thit the wowan »as very well able
to take care of herself; as far ae T could aee, the woman

was sober,
2 Now ycu went out to the laundry »ith her? A Yes, sir,
" And brought her back to the station house? A Yes, sir,
And when you went down with her, i1 she atate td: you
how wany men had as~aul4d her? A No, I don't remember,
N Fh? A I doa*t remember her stating anything about
the number of men,
Q@ Did she tell you vhat time she went into the laundry?

£ Wo, sir,
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N Did she say how long she had been in the laundry?,
A Vo, eir,

% Did she tell you, when you get to the laundry, that
there were tvo retticoate in the laundry beldnging to her?
A ¥Wo, seir,

THE CCURT: Wel®, he didu't get into the laundry

ali,
BY THY COURT:

Pid you?r A MNo, sir,
BY MR, CUVILTINR:
in front of the lruniry, did she
tel! you that there sece 470 pertlicouts in the laundry bdelong-
ing to her? A i« ,if.

Di! she siy that there was a ¢ord in there belonging

to her- A Bo

b~

0 Did she say anythl

iy about any of the men taking two

dollars from her, and getting & ziat of beex? A No,

¢ Did she say -- did sne descriiie the wean to you at all?
A Vo,
” i A

Did she mentlion n wman Ly “he rawe of Hunt to you?

What 7id ahe a2y to your A Zhe s3aid that the men that
sanulted hrer were Ln thsre,
0 Did she uag the werd "assaulted®™? A I think she did,

Q@ You are nct poaitiver A ‘1 am not positive,
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Q Did she say that she had Pad sexual intercourse there,
in the placa? A Yes, T think she did,
? You are not rositive? A 1 ax not poaitive,
h oy ¢
7 You didin'4 hear her s~y anything to the liettenant about
having sexual interccurse pith the wan? A I didn't pay any
Lttention %o what she 221d te the lieutenant,
'“411, M you returned to the etation houses with her

you rerottel your iivestiraticn to the lieutenant at tue desk?

ind that vas lisutenant Loughman? A  Yes, sir,
o haar the li-ntenant tell her to come back to

[
the staition hounae at ei~ht o'clsock in the merning? A Yes, sir,
THE COURT: mgll, rhat hae that te do with the case?
necneednd Yot gre Aid pet ;¢ bock, and I have said

that eha aoul n bnek or net, just ~s she pleased, You

pey reke cpvosroewmert thet yor niease upon the faet that
12 nct 20 Dook, There 1o no dispute about that,
" ¥ t t he i 18] Q bhank,
",' ";. f‘?'f"T' & "l
Wave *f4cer, hom long 72 you bheen in the 43rd
Precincte Aheut nt n ycars,
~r Anl you are rratty wel) aosuainted with the thorough=-
re »f 135 tregt, hetveen fegon and Thirs Avenue, aren's
'310 Yas

N And you ¥now t ia laundry vrett; vell, don't you, the




1ooat16n of 1t? A Yes,

~

It 1s a wheolesale laundry, lan't 1%, ,that iz, 1t is

a laundry Shat does wholesale launirying?

THE COURT: Tell, vhat 40 you mean by wholesale

laundry?
R, CUVILLIFR: 7Well, it is a laundry that does
orkx far othar laundries,
A I am not informes as 46 that faotl,
BY MR, CUVILLIER:
-~
A - Tell, 1V zoverms a lavie spise and has auchinery in 1t?
A Yea, sir,
O And there are larse »latas 2laas vindowa in it; the
whole front L2 »lata Tlasa i s, Sractically? - A Yes.
\erosa the stresti ‘ wal houas? A Tes,
Ant in fvcnt of th ol i@ i3 a2 large arc light,
nzar
ia ther2 not? A Ven, Thnere 1ls a 1light the lauwndry, on
tha block, "t I don't know whic: alds it's on, to tell you the
truti:,
Yell, y kne hcre’ the Carnegis Prdlic Library is,
dontt you? A Yss3,
2 Ay hat next to the library Llhsre 12 a vacant let?
A Yas,
An” next to the vacaat lot 13 the laundry? A Yes, eir.
0 And do yom knos tanat, at the intersccotion of the library
and tho lot, thers 10 o larpe are lightt A I don't know thas,




I don't remember that,

0 Vell, would you say from your expertongp of being
on post, and geing throush that sec’ion ati%;; hour of the
d/ night, that, if any person was in that laundry, a pedestrian
on the street couvli look in and see anybody that wae there, if
they were there?

MR, SMITH: Objescted to,

THE COURT: Sustained, fie may describe the condi-
tions ani lel the jury deterwine that, It ientt his
ofinion- that counts oa that; it is the jury's opinion,

BY THT COURT:
: 7 Did you .ever notice this launiry specially, officer?

A No, sir; T didn't,

PETER M C DERYOTT, of the 43rd Precinect,
'itneea called in behall of the People, being duly

4

nworn, 8tilled as followa:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, SITITH:

0 Officer, in October and November, 1915, whit Precinct
were you ueuipgned 10?7 A 43rxd Precinct,
0 And do you know te complainant Tatherine lern?

"R, SWITH: Stand up, Vre, Kern?
A Yee, sir; I know that lady,
7 When 217 you first see her? A The day after Eleotion,

the 3rd of Novembor, she cawe to the statiocn house when I was
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front of the desk, and she went up to the lieuten-

anid, "I'saw one.of those men:that assaultad me

125%h Street and Second Avenue, and I want you to

out to arrest hie*, and the lieutenant told

0 out and try to.f{ind hinm,

i went down to Second Avenue andl34th Street,

hie youns man and arothcr youn: man core up Second
ald, "No» you oo shead ani point out which one of
i T4 e you®,
ol'e »ent ahead of i ind . pointel him out and I
e
L) 135440 you di she 707 2 Only five or six
. : X 1 niant, what did she do;
A 1ted h Anrer (11lustrating), and I
1" him, L
Y e bl rhet became of the man who
' t ? A Ve ran avay, and the poli~eman
i Hiw, but she 1% that she idldn't need
Wt thi @ tice right san, that assaulted her,
Tah Al the defenlant say when you arrested him?
! had the vrony rerscn,
, W iroke firet, you, or the defendant, or the

A The Adefsnianté!
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‘Q hat did hejeay? A THe told the lady, "You have the

wrong pereon®, and she sald, "o, I hive the right person,

You are the rizht person that ascvaulted me®", and he was plead-

ing with her all the vay up to the station houase.,

CROGS EXAMTNATION RY ¥R, CUVILLIFER:
id he oay anything about asking the covzplainant to

6 launiry? A

) You diin't hear anything like that? A Ro, sir; 1

.
idntt hexr him say anything 1ikae that,

P ’

BY THE COURT:
3 Uell, you don't remeusber, 17 he 4id? A No, air; there

.3 only 2 faw words that —ere s oken,

s YOUu ware there an ©wu henx everytaing that he
Ad and that she eaid? A Yes, eir; bhe was begging all the
Yay ur to let him go; that he .2 the wrong person,

1

And you didm't heur him say to her, "You've got the

rong man, and T can rrove it, Take me to the laundry"?
A No, 1 iuntt hear him aay anything about the laundry,

ell, vhen she rointed out llunt, "hare was he utmdiqg?
A j@ was walking up to ardin‘me, himeelf and another man,
"And di’ you heve 2 uniform on? A I had, She was
;0lni; anewldl of me,

an ©She was going abead of you? A Yes, oir,

And how par werc you from the defendant when you first
A )




-
g

60
noticed him? A He just come around on the E1 there at 134th
Street, and she was about seven or eizht yarde ahead of me,
and she went hp and pointed her finger like that at him'-
(11lustrating). |

~ And did she stop him? A She didnet stop him, but I
ran up and grabbed him, T 4Aldn*t zive him time to get away,
A Wow you 3ay that the othor man with hin ran away?
A Ys2e, oir; up 125th Strest to Thirl Avenue, and the joliceman
on roat followed him and nhe 1lcat him at --
THE COURT: Tell, that ic immaterial, The only
thins thaot weull be magerial would be if she charged the
other man, and the officer says that she did not,
BY MR, CUVILLIYR:
pid she cay te you, "Arreet. both of them"t A To, s8ir;

;he.rointed ous thds ran (inlicuting the defeniant),and when

the other min s re arresating hin, he ran,
7 Do you kno hether the other man w#a: his brother?
A V%el , Le saild he mas, T didn't rnow either of them,
R, CUVILLIFR: That's all,

., SUITH: That's all, Tne Teorle rest,
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YR, CUVILLIER: TWow, may it please the Court, I move
that the cor laint be dismissed, and for a direction of
a verdiet in this case:

First, on éhe sround of Section 3010 of the Penal
Code, in that there i& no evidence to show that the com=
rlaining witnenl was raped by the defendant, and that there
18 no proof whatever to show, elther by iqc couplaindnt
or anybody 2lse that there was force used, or fear, against
the complainant, that, if she didn't submit, ahe would be
agosaulted, or receive bodily harm,

Ard, 3econd, on the ground that there is no proof that

any drug, or any other narcctic, or intoxicating liquid

“as used to put her in a conait on of fear,
And, third, th2t she could not uwee her w»ill,

™

Fourth, I move to diariss, and ask for a dircotion to
ie7uit, on the eniire e;i ence. ziven ‘in benalf of the
Peorle, under Section 3113, on the ground that no convic-
tion can Le had unless there is corroboration, and there
hasn't been a acintilla of evidence or corroboration ase
to thia erire of rare in the firnt desree; and on the
round that the corroboration muat extend tc every
materinl fact neceazary to conatitute the orime,

M.fth, the fuet that the defendant had sexual inter-

course wvith her againat her will, %o prove that fact, I

mean, there muat be othar evidence in aupport of 1t
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before there can be a conviction, and it must be conclu~
aive’ovidehoe, not merely circumetantial,

8ixth, on the question of corroboration as to force
being used, the mere fact that the defendant had sexual

.

intercourse with the complainant is not sufficient to
e

sustain a conviction of rape in the first degree,

THE COVRT: There i3 a count of asaault in the second
dégree, that you have overlooked, *r, Cuvillier, Now
the motion is based uron an argument on the juestion
of corroboration, and I *ill reserve ny decision on that
for the present, The law does not require any corrobora-

tion on the cuestion of ansault,

"R, CUOVILLIFR: No, If your Honor till bear with me,

because if I o inte a defenee in this case, I want to have
the record state --

TEE COURT: Tell, that is my most earnest wish also.
Take your time now, and get the record straight,

R, COVILTLIFR: Now, I move yur Honor, at this
tine, that your Hcnor submit the case on the second count
of the indictment, which charges the defendant with the
crime of assault in the second degree,

THE 6OUR?: That I do what?

"R, CUVILLIFR: I ask your Honor to submit the case
to the jury on the second count of the indlotment, charging

the orime of asvault in the second degree,




TEE COURT: I said, for the time being I would
deny your mction to take away the {irst degzree from the
jury.

It is a debatable questiocn aa QQ whether there 1a
suffisient corroboration nere or not, or whether thers 1is
any corroboration; bdut, for tha nregsent, I am zoing to
dony your motion, without prejudice to your right to
reans~ it; and, as far ae the second count is concerned,
I =111 submit tonat count, 28 well 28 the other to the jury.
The law does not require any corroboration va the guestion
of cecault, lleve 1 wade my ruling clear to you, Kr,
Cuviliier?

‘R, CUVILLIER: If vour fonor will allow we \'to renew

ticn, at the eni of the ovzse, ]

ny M

[

THECOURT: Yes, you nay rener -it, and 1 will give
the guecticn of corroburation more consiceration, But T
vill deny 1t 2beolutely 2e to the second count in the

indictment,

¢ course, the jury underatand that the Court ie
prassing upon cuestione of law, not of lact, I do not
decide that the dereadant ald or 7i¢ not do anything,
Thet 12 for the jury to wcgwfuluﬂ on the teatisony,
I a;/;;so&y-vaoln; on the law,

2R, CUVILLIER: Yeo

THE COURT: And, befuso you begia your opening, I




would like to hear from the District Attorney on the
question of corrcboraticn, Not now, though, Go en

=4th vour opening, !'r. Cuvillier,
- - (&)

A~

&
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JOHN HUNT, the defendant, of 168 East 138th Street,

being’duly svorn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. CUVILLIER:
7 Now, Hunt, how old are you? A Trenty years old,
Q Have you a twin brother? A Yes, sir,
0 And does he live with you? A Yes, oir.'
Q And do you live with your parents? A Yes, sir,
7 Your father and mother? A Wy stepfather and mother,

Q@ And your twin brother? A Yes, sir,

0 Now have you ever been convicted of any orime? A No,sir,
Q@ Were you ever arrested for any orime? A Tes, sir,

Q For what? A Saspicion,

Q " When? A Last year,
What was done with you? A I was let go,
Suspicion for what? A Around 134th Street, between
Second and Third Avenues,
Q Suspicion of doing what? A = Lead pipe,
, Oh, lead pipe? A Yes, sir, .
Do you mean being a burglar or thief? A WVell, I sup-
pose so,
3 And you were discharged? A Yes, sir,
3 And this time and that time are thgrpnly times you have
ever been in Court? A Yes, sir,
Q Ie thag right? A Yo%! eir,

Q Now you heard the testimony of the witnesses here, didn's
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you?t A Yes, sir,

Q bid you ever see -- did you ever see Katherine Kern?
A Wo, sir.

 Before the day you were arrested? A No, sir,

Q Never knew her? A No, sir.

Q) And never sax her in the street before? A Never,

7 Now, where were you on the 24th day of October, 1915%
A Home, October 34th?

3 Yes, A I was home, sleeping, when this occurred,

) Now how do you know that you were at home .sleeping when
this occurred? A I have proof,

Q) How did you know that it occurred? A I didn't know it

had ocourred unfll I was locked up on November 3rd, 1915, and
the officer told me.

© Well, do you know what day October 24th was? A Saturday
night,

) Baturday night? A 'Yes, sir,

Q Andi how do you kno~ you were home that night?t A I have

7 Vell, what proof?t A That I was in bed with my brother,

3 Did you work that day? A Pctobor 34th?

) Yes? A VWo, eir, i

Q Well, what time did you get howe? A I was home all day
until about eight o'clock, and then my mother didn't feel goeod,

and my aunt, Rogpe Smith, my brother and I went to market.

y




rul little after nine,
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Q VWhat market? A 139th Street market, And then we

went over to the delicatessen store, and my brother done all

the narkotlngfolhilo.ngg>8n1th did the marketing -- and we
reached the house a little after nine o'clock, and I wasn't.
out after that,
Where do you live? A 168 East 138th Street,

? And between what avenues is that? A Third and Lexing=-
ton,

@ And this laundry is in 135th Street, between Second and -
Third Avenues? A (No answer,) 7

n. Do you know where this laundry is? A Yes, sir,

0 And you got home you say about nine o'clock? A About

0 And you came hoze that night? A Yes, sir,
That tire di4 you 70 to bed? A Arouni eleven o'cloock.

0 " Who do you sleep with? A My brother,

7 And di4d you stay in the house all night? A Yes, sir,

0 What time 411 you get up in the morning? A About ten
o'clock, on Sunday morning.

7 Now, do you drink anything? A No, sir,

2 Beer? A No, sir,

Q §h1ekey? A. No, sir; I got a pledge by Archbishop
Farley, at Mount Loretto, Staten Island, ’

Do you smoke cigarettesey A No, sir,

Pid you ever smoke them? A No, sir,




Q Now you were arreasted on November 3rd, weren't you?

1

A Yes, sir,

Q Vhom were you with when you were arrested? A My
brother, !

. Where were you? A I waadin a furniture store,
BY THE COURT:

7 VWhere were you when you were I:reated7 You were on
the street, weren't you? A Yes, sir,

@ Well, that is what he asked you, You were on the

street? A Yes, #ir; T was with my brother,

Q Walking in the streetes A Yea, sir.
BY MR, CUVILLIER:
Did you see the officer teatify a while ago, the last
officer? A Yes, sir.

And 411 you see him then? A No, not until he grabbed

Q@ When he grabbed yout A Yes, I was busy talking to my
brother, and he came over ani grabbed me, and I was astonished,
because I didn't know what I was pgrabbed for,

And I said, to the officer, "What did you grab me for?

You are mistaken®, And he said, “You assaulted this woman,
and used your tool on her."

Rid T said, "No, you are mistaken, I wasn't out that
night at all,*® fle told me it was Saturday night, October

a4th,
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And 8- he was bringing me around in 125th Street to the
station house, and I heard 1t cccurred in that laundry, and I
said, "Core on in that laundry, and g{ove 1t*, but no one would |
heed me, and they broucht ne to tho-ocgtion house, and I wasn't
hardly allowed to areak,'and they sent me to the Harler Court,
and T wasn't allovwed to speak there, and so I am down here for
egxty-fivg dayes, and T don*4 know vhat for,

And I would li¥e to have thal woman vrosecuated, if I get
the chance, and T'11 proscoute her,

0 Wow you gay that =lhen you walked past the laundry, you
pay that yon henpd the wemsn claimed to have teen assaulted
there? A VYea, eir; +the policeras toll me that the woman --

TEE COTRYT: Tell, I will tell the Jur) to dieregard

2ll this, It ie irzaterial.

vR, CUVILLITR: Tell, I want to zet 1t,

THT AATAT:  Tall, you've got it in evidence already,

’
that he never nade any adeissicn of zulit, but he always
rotentes hia innazenca, If tusre #a3 any olaim that he
“ad made any admisoiocn of guilt, this would be proper
evidence, but, cthervise, 1t ic not, That Le said to

the officer amounts to notling, and that he was 65 days in

jail 1= of no materiallily here, I =mould have liked to
if it

have tried hir irrediately for the assault/wms was possible,

1
but wve cain de only a4 certiln amouat of wurk here at a time,

Wow let ue proceed with that understanding, that he




70
vigorously protested his innocence then, and dbeo 80 now,
- . Let that be understood ao conocedsd, |
BY /R, CUVILLI®R:
7 Now do yu know a man named Hicnohey? A I seen him
v lot of'timee.
7 Yes or no? A Yea, by sight.
Q Yow lonz had you krosn bdm? A4 Arcund 125th Street,
BY THE COURT: - 14
He eaid how long have you knowen hin, A Ch, a few

monthe, I suppose,

BY MR, CUVILIIER:

»

0 Well, did you associate uiti Lhiat A To, sir; never,

Did you sce on the aighi o. the @4th of Gotober?

A Wo, sir,
No you know & aan haecea Cliz 'S 4 A 1, 411'.
 Tere you evar in this lauadryt? A g, sir,

Never was I it in yow life? A No, sirz,

-

You heard tae compliainanl waze & statement at the sta-
tion house, didn't you, s Lo “ual oosusrsd? 4 TYes, eir,
I 8ay, vou aeard uer aase 4 a3tatement in the station
house? A Yes, air,
a @7 What? A VYes, sir,
Andi vhet 4l sle vay? A ¢ wzid that she. wanted me

arrested, and that the olilcer had the right omne,

~ ) Did ehe uvny a.yvhing about wuyone elee not belnz arrest-
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edt A VNo, eir,

Q Did she mention the name of any other man? A No, eir;

not that I know of,

" Did she say that sore man -- that she looked for some
other man?
THE COURT: Why, he told you just vhgt she said to
the officer, that he had the right one, She was only
dealing with one at the time, ‘

-
BY MR, CUVILLIFR:

" |

Where have you been workinz? A The last place?

) Yes, A On a cement boat,

7 For whom? A 8, Cuy & Company, on the River, It went
to Gold Street, Brooklyn,

O Then 117 you work laat? A Around October something.
BY THE COURT:

3 What ia your ccoupation? A Ny occupation is laborer,
I have a trade, too,

Wel), rhat ia your trade? A TLithographer,

BY MR, CUVILLIFR:

n  For whom 4i4 you work as a lithographer? A (No answer,)
BY THF COURT:

2 How long di! you work as a lithographer? A A year and
eisnt months, for L, F, Newman & Comrany, and then I became a

laborer,

¥ He 2sked you for whom you worked, A I worked on the
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cement boats, as a deck hand,

BY MR, CUVILLIER:

Q Did you work for anybody else? A Yes, for L, E.
Fisher & Company, furniture, Sccond Avenue, between 134th and
133rd Streect, vhen I left school, I left school in May, 1811,
I was fifteen past.

Did you hear the compliinant aay to the officer to

arrest both of them, vhen you were arrected? A Yes, he said
it.
9 V¥ho said 1t? A T mean the vosan sald 1it,
n  Sald what? A “Crab the both of them",
; And did your brother run awvayt A Yes, eir,
You didn't run, did you? A VWo, sir.
BY THF CCURT:

0 Well, you didn't ret = chance, did you? A Fo, sir;

-

T was crabbed, T was actonished,
?  You werec grabbed and could not have run? A No, eir.
BY ¥R, CUVILLIFR:
Vell, you wovldn't have run if you had a chance, would
you?
LR, SMITH: Objected to,
THE COURT: Suetained,
G
MR, CUBILLIFR: Excoptioh,
BY THF COURT:

That wae a good, husky policeman that had you, wasa't he?

L
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A Well, the last fellow that was on the stand.

4

7 Well, he wi»y a pratty good looking man, . A -Good looking?

Q@ Yea, strong, A VWell, he wasmretty old,
7 Well, you don't think that you had a chance to get
avay fronm him, lf-yon tried, do ycu? A TWVell, I was astonished,
° TVell, 21d you know that he was going to hold you, when
he caught you? A T dont't knoe rhether ke eculd or not,
) You don'¢? Yoo thourht you gonldd ~et awmay from him?

A UWo, sir; 7T wasn®t tryirg to et aray from him,

CROSE EXAVINATINN BY ¥R, SNITH:

T
R WYhen 4id you first we:? Hinchey? A Finchey?

Yes, L About three ronihe hefore that occurred.
BY TFrr ‘\"(\Y'I‘("[‘:

) Befeore what oeccurred? A That crime what she claimed.

RY YR, SMITH: .

9 Vhere dii you meet him? A Tn 135th Street, Second and
-
Third Avernues,
@ NWear vhere the laundry ‘iz located? A No, sir,
2 The Javndry ioc located between ®econd and Third? A I
knov, dbut down further,
At the wvacant lot? A Down further,
G At the library? A Dovn towards Second Avenue.
You ¥knowr that "inpshey is ahout 19 or 30 years of age;

don't you? A I eeen hia aue in the paper, pineteen,
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i About your age? A I am twenty,
DiZ you ¥nov where he lived at the time? A Wo, alr,

1 You learn.ei aftermarde vhere he lived? A In the paper.,
5 In 136th Street® A 310 Tast 135th Street,
© That's near Seocond Avenue? A I don't know vhere it is,
% You don't know that?t A T¥o, sir,
3 How lon~ have you lived un ip Tarlen? A Tarlem?
n Yes? A Well, I coms out ot t Loretto, Staten Island,
in Beptenber, 1909. and T wr at home ever aince,

? Wo you aald you —orked on cement boats as a deck hand?
A Yes, air,

N When d4i¢ you work last und whe pall your salary? A A

<

man named Wilaon,

) Then wis- that? A Yell, T can't remecsber when,

That month? A& Then T anit the rlace,
0 That pronth waa it that you pot the list nonsy for work-
in> on a cerent boat? A That month?

Yes? L Aiound May, I think,
‘o thot {rere Uay up until the time of your arrest, you
had done no ork? A Yze, T morked for a grocsry fellow,

n  ¥hat wya the name of the srocer? A J, Veless, 3403
Second Avemue ,
e hat otreet ie Lhat near? A 123x3 and 1234th, Tell,

it's richt by the corner of 133xd fireet,

And when <47 you 20 to work (or him? A T don't rememberx
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I quit afound November, C ol
¥ Why, you were arroatsd. ¥f Yovewber, A I wean October,
now which wus 387 Yua lu.tifled on your direct
examination that vou worked on the cement boat up until Ootober.

Fow you =ay that you quit in uay, aé) fent to work for a man

named Teisa, in the grocery business, Wieh 1& correct?

DId you wor¥ on the cawmeal boat up teo ”~*:ber, or 41d you work
for ur. Walzo? A T worked cn the csment bonts, and thea for
wr, Vedas,

y  Now Then b it you actually worked for Weles,
rhat woath? I duntt e bér what month,

Y A year ape? 1 T warked Tor him akout tvo months, but

f oan't *ell 100
L laigt winter, wnosn't 1t, that you worked
for Yelise? A Yes,
& ) v "orked on the cemrent boate ur to loat Nay?

tt Dont \ merher® & leo, oir.
* Y orrymyr,
tx_ ;
You. hower'! dene any very far 2 mumber of moaths before

ou vercnrreate?, had vou? A Certainly I was working.
5. - Yol hWoera were vouw workince? A (No anoverx,)
BY THT ONURT:

b

Tell, that 4s mhat be wants you %o “ell him: Can's
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you remember where you were working in October? Did you
have 2 job on tha 24¢th of Natodber? A Vhat year?

ast year, the year just past, A Octoder?
¢t Yen, A Wo, T 28 out of rorr in Octoder.

]

in' hov long ﬁmf‘you been out of work, he aska yonu?
Don't you vemembert A Yo, air; T doan't remember,
BY. MR, SUITH:

7 Tell, you hain't workel a!l summer, had you? Business
was 'dull, ind you'didn®t work® A Yes, I had worked,

© Well, rhere 417 y»m wor*? L I worked over in the New

.

York Plano Hardware Company, 138th Street and Soufhérn Roule-
vard, -

I mean this past summer, the sumrer of 1815, two months
befors you wera arrested, A T waan't werking,

7  You weres not working? A [Kc, sir.,
Yo7 you s21d that the 34th of October was not a Satur-
jay, but wap 2 Sunday,an’ you zaid that on a Saturday before
your arrest -- A I wae arrested on a Wedneeday,

I am sreskin- of {the Saturday before the assault was
comritted, and you said that you were at home all day, and
sould prove it. You were not workins on that day, were you?
A No, sir,

f And vou stayed at bhome until eicht o'clock that nighty
A Yes, »ir,

Q Wrat did you do in your house that day? A 7T washed

/
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two shirte and two collars, and waited until they were dry,

and I was talking to my aunt besides,

N Vhere dld ashe 1live at that time? A She wae living with

M

ue, She was on her vacation, 8She 1 a nurse,
Q Ani at eight o'clock in the evening ycu stated, you
ent out with your brother, who ie your twin, you eay? A My
brother and ny aunt,

N Vas he vorking at that time? A lo, sir,

Q He huad been cut of work for come time? A FHe's got kidney
trouble,
R Uothing the matter with yout A No, eir,
Q Ani that you returned about nine or ton o'clock at
nizght? A Yes, sir,
ind “that you didn*'t 0 out again, thut night? A Vo, sir,

Q Now, did yuvu sse lilnchey,  that night, or that day? A

» I v} § u 8er iz the vaek? A TUo, eir,
0 Or after that did you see him? A Then he got brought

up in front of in the rier Court.

P "

Jell, dic you see Lir before he had been arrested?

A No, sizr, : \\,
Q@ Vere you cr:i¢sted about the same time? A I was
arrested on November 3rd, 1€15,
Q Aal “hen wis Fipchey arrcsted, dé you know? A I dom's

know when he wig arrealed.
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Q WVell, you saw him in the Harlem Court, dida't you?
A Yes, sir, ‘

N And didn't you taik_with him? A I didAt speak a
word, =

9 Didn't you see him rheﬁ he was in the Courtroom? A
Pes, gir.

Q But didn*t tafk to him? A No, uir:

7 And you oar him when he was in the jail? A He was ix
a different cell from where 1 was, and he was on the sixth
tieg in the Tombz, and I ax on the fifth,

Q But I am talking of the time that he was in th§ jail
attached to the Harlem Court. You were on the one tier them,
were you not? A I don't knos what his number.was, but I
was numbar twvo, - .

e Well, yuu saw hiu there, didart yout A Yes, sir,

€ Anl talked with him about this case? A No, sir; I
never did, ‘ ol

Well, ciin't you tell him what the charge was againet
you? A I don't remember telling him 4 thing ike that,

6 MNew Crom the 34th of October up until November 3rd, the
day after Flection, did you work antwhere? A I worked odd
jobs,

Q I am speaking of from the 34th or 33rd of Oetober, whem
you went out with your aunt, Rose Smith, up to the time of your

arrest, you worked at odd jobs thevre, A L, E, Fisher,

L




0 Where is that? A 3409 Second Avenue,
2 Pastseen what atrests 1s that? A 133rd and 134th
Q That 411 ycu do there? A I worked down in the cellar,
cleaning out stoves, —wni putting beate in tlhe chaeirs,
Q And hov loeny did yocw wory there? A ddd jobﬁ.
Ho» long d4i¢ you work thsre, how sany days? A Well,
7@ had a contract, It took about seven days, ™

Who hac. the contrast? 2 Uy brolher and I and two more

- ™5 . " - % v " o e 2 =
v 100 TYéT th th r T9G? A 28 9ThR2Y t o7
Y - 2 - ’ . | * .
v i‘ ¥ hal & t“_l‘\ ,‘ll..“:';? ‘!. Ve P}.C-Plﬁy.
- w} 2o i % o 5 » A 24118 . 1 A
¢ And ire does 2 live? L 2400 Deccond Avenus,

Y e Jong the other oy, 1ivet A I don't know where

he Yives, T otel,
2. Ber what tirme o the day ; 4% that jou vere arrested?
Toverkes , ¢ .
3 That tire of the wag 4t? /A In the morning,
- Atigut what tire? A 1t e vlin' be n¢e nore than a

ell, rere you juest a ulng from your héve? A T was
coming out ¢of RAsher's, Fe raid he me xing ﬁ; for breakfast,
ani 80 me and my brether »-a rekking, Jjolly, and everything,
and T vag c7v *ht by the officer.

N And your brother rax av? A Yee, eir; my brother
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ran away,
Q  And how long had you been living where you were living
at the time of your arrest? A I couldn't say,

2 About how long? A I couldn't say,

Q Who livaes in that apartment beesides you ani your
brother? A M7y mother, 6 my stenfather; that's all, !
3 That'a all? a Yes. You want neirhbora?
N Nc, in the house, A Roase Smith was on a vacation with us,
"R, DEITH: That 1s all,
1M, MYILLITR: That is all, If your Honor please,

Liill Yave te ask for an adjournment until tomorrow morning. ,

THE COURT 3 Very =ells I you have not any other
ritnesses herg, and wish an zdjournwent for the purpose of

produsing thex, T w111 give you an ad journment for that

LErPOEE,

COURT: Very #2311, I will ive you the adjourn=-

(The Court admonished the jury in accordance with
section 115 of the Code of Crisinunl Procedure, and ad-
journed the further trial cf the caes to Friday morning,

January 7th, 1818, at 11:30 o'clock,)

THE COURT: Now, Yr, Smwith, I would like to have a
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memorandum on the question of corroboration, I think now
that I will E:vo to take the firet count from the jury,
on the ground of luck of corroboration, No corroboration
is legally required under the eecond part of the indict-

ment.

YR, SMITH: Very well, air,




New York, January 7th, 1915, *

) TRIAL RESUMED.

THOUAS HUNT, of 168 East 138th Street, a wit-
ness callecu Lo beluil of the delfense, being duly sworn,
testifled ae followa:

DIRECT EXALINATION RBY ¥h, CUNILLIRR:
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J "Ana is the delenuant your broetoer? A Yes, sir; John
Huat,

3 Are ycuv twine? A Yes, alr,

i o 4o you live #ith? A iy sotaor and father -- he 18
Lae egconi fatasr I have == he is o atepfather,
ana %ho olsg lives in tne nouse? A In my house?
Yes, A iy mother's elaver, Rose Swith,
\0 /000y S8 ) » AL .
flave you ever been sonvicted of any cxime? A I was
locked up on sucpicica, but no coavictiova,
THZ COLRT: )eil, that will co, inere is nothing in
taat,
BY MR, CUBILLIFR: ,' '
2 Now don't go ) ax wiitlons wt all, but just ansver
ny yusations,
‘nf COURT: dyd Tl wad never convicied of any
erinve, Tuat sng Chat, W arrest mcans nothing.

e
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That 19 only a charge, not a convietion,
BYNUR, CUVILLITR:

~ had

os wer? you with your brother here, the dofendanf,
on OctoberVZSr., 12367 & Yrse, air; the three of us; Rose,
my brother anl T went shopping aft:r my father come home, at
eisht o'clock,

'”y fataer uznﬂ e out, az @y sother didn't leel

cod

3 anl the three of us sent ocut sroppingz, and the only
delay we m:.le wa3 three placea, thoe butshser, grocer and the

market, anl Irox halfl past aine e never left the house again,

>

And shat day or the seak was thaty A On Saturday

night,
How do ggu kno~ it was.Zaturday nizht? A Sure J knowit,
N TVieil how do ycu knov 1t was Saturday aight? A How
do I know#?
Yea? A TVell, I «no: every day of the veek,
Are you ani your brotier together? A Always; never
leave each other,
o you sleep tovether in the house? A Yea, and zo out
tozether,
ﬂYTm‘%mﬂ:
Lo you vork topether? A Yes, every place he works
I »ork, andi at school we¢ were in the same claas,
). Well what do you work at?__4 Jor Vewman and Fisher

we worked eirhteen monthe, It'e o seccnd hand astore,
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Q Have you any traie? A Yes, sir; lithographer,
I worked for thirteen months, and Johnnie worked for two years,

Q You did't work with him all that time? A No, sir;
not all, ”
BY MR, CUVILLITR:

% Now was your brother out of the hoﬁﬁe on the night of
October 23rd? A WNever le}t the house only -~ from the time
we come in until w; went to bed together,

And you ntayed in bed 211 night? A Yes, sir, .-

Until the next morning? A Yes, sir; until about half
past eight., Ve went down Second Avenue until the officer
caught ﬁim and locked him up, A“T"ﬁ.

I aw speaking of October é&rd. You were with him that
night, weren't you? A . Yes, sir,

And you say you w-nt to yarkat? A Yes, sir; and fxom

that time until we come in, ve never left the house uantil we

vent to bed,

" And #hat di' you do on Sunday? A We never left the house f:::ﬁ

at all on Sunday.

. Do you know the comp'aining witneas in this case? A
Mrs, Kern?

L Yes? A We never seen her until right after he was
logcked up, I seen her the day that the pokiceman came and -
took him from me, -- but I recognized her,

Q "hy did you run awvay when your brother was arrested?
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A Because the same officer that caught him wase tﬁo same officer

that onasel us 4t the [ire in 154th Strect, between Firat and

Second Avenuca, on Tlectlon TWight, ana I thought it sas the

Bame ta. ngZe.

2 Tero thers tyo olfizara thore? A Only one,
? Nell, how zould Le have chased you and arrested your

brothar? A I aay ha shazed ud on Flestlon Wisut,
THE 13 shy you raat A {2a, sir, -
Yy And .;.‘.: ilal you 207 4 1 seni siraicht o the house,
M DA you 2vor saa the souplaiviay vitneaa, ¥ra, Kerm,
belore that day? A Hever azan tie woaaa in my 1life,

sha OU T1mAr Tl 3¢ 8aldd wlen sa¢ arrestsed your

wétiar? 2 13 "TA3 Arradtedl?
, 8
} Dil you hizar that abe sald when your brothr was arrest-
2 2 . 15" p
el W, 8lr,

W3 you e : ith her alave? A Tes, & couple
of tinmes, azd shas dalt Liuast only 47 wvuae officer . had
eonz to her assiatanse, i3 time, eas # ould have had the right

n, *0ap®, He hae left the tomn, e naa Hlond hair and
reserbics Joannlae, - an s vors 3 browva aull,

L1 jua 3var e "Sa;"*"? A No, 3ir; never seen any

e - 2
of the 33, wdil QY auy o \ B,
for 214 geu hay ny eonverzation with the complaining

o

rdtnese in regurl to youy Lrothzr? A Tes, sizx,

That did she ooy about your brothor? A Che adritted
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that ==
BY THE COURT:
O That did she sav? A She caid that, if she got this
other feliow, gheo wouldn'% have come down,
BY MR, CUVIVLLIFR:
Taen 45 ahe 9y that? A And she told my mother and

ry sunl snd we, on the Thursdiy nizht after he zot looked up,

"M, SMITH: ° Objected to.

THE COURT: Suntalined,

CROSE EXANYVATION DY MR, SMITI:

Are y yrkin~t A' NWe, eir; T have kiiney trouble,
You haveu!t rked for eome tive, bave you?t A Weo,
eir; I ve vet, not for the whole.year 1815.

[fow lon~ hLove sou Ynowvn *Cap®™ A I never seen hirm in

Youn a~id he louk like your brother, A I got told

that by liinchey's cousing, two 1little girla

O  And the 1d "Cap® was there that night? A To, oir;

. o . s
but they cculd %2l) me that my brother w tvken for this man

aaj",
{our brother ion't blenc; 4is he?t AL e, eir; he has

black hair.

6 And "Gap® 12 a Plond? A Yes,




Yes,

L

P .
ontt you romo

ar?
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Did you work list summer anywhere? A Last summer?

~

A W"!, »1!'.

Dit your brothox Johnn{e work lant summer? A I think

he 7az working

and

K oyow =

i

lagt

\

aummer,

2 That? You only think? Don't you ¥now? A Well,this.ds

191€, den't At?

a2 -4nd:-he haant? ¥ad 1
4"..
gir: tn about vaar,
o And he } beer  around
A  Yee, six he nevar leasyvas n
T Yeou anc h ¢ together
nd yon weprs ¢ ot r 2% homa?
. ind Ao you rerember on
yeer, vhat time jyr ot up in ¢
porning, A Tirzht ofelock,
N2 » Bypa .
g Yas, gir,
! "o » 2 ! & !
'L ('," [ T n r ] "+ th }
vini namas Yot 413 thad
7 M™at 414 you 4¢ that an
R "hat 444 you do that
eat there, or rlayed capde,
Fow pony rooma have 'wop
i1 farniahaed room,

prut 3, yesr, has het* A No,
L
the honre cvery duy with you?
vy .y fer the last year,
£ Yes, eir,
the 23rd As’v of Octecber of this
ha morning? It mas oan a Satur-
#»
wondant, got up At the sane timel
{ h yovr breakfaet, wheore did
vaee until Saturday nizht,
y* A Mo, elr,
we p '.’1"’
dny in the hovee? A Ye only
ot in thet apartment? A Two,




Q A furnished room? A Yes, sir,
0 You and your brother occupy that furnished room?

A TNo, my mother and father, He is a stepfather, We all

live together,

Q How many rooﬁa are there in the apartment where you and
yours mother and your brother and stepfather live? A Just
twvo furnished rooms,

Q Nell, is one a bedroom and the other where you eat?
A Yes, sir,

Q Héw many beds are there? A There ie a bed that my
father and mother sleep in, and a divan for Johnnie and I,

7 And on the Z3rd day of October you remained in this

room all day? A Yes, sir,

’

2 You said your aunt, Rose Smith, wga living with you at
that time? A Yes, sir; ahead of that, \\\\\\\fpj\

7 And where did she aleep?t A Ehe slept for three nighte
in the nsame dbed #ith»my mother,

7 But on thie particular day, or the night before? A She
3lept with my mother,

And your father slept in thé bed with you and Johnnie?

A TNo, sir; the three, My mother and my father and her,

" Your father slept »ith the two women? A Yes,
Your Aunt Rose ien't living with you, at your home, now,

is she? A Yes, she is,

Q Now you remember the 33rd of October very well, don't



you? A Yes, sir,

© Wae it raining on that night? A When we went to the
market?

Q Yes? A No, sir.

0 Are you sure about that? A Yes, seir,

¢ Didn't you carry an urbrella? A WNo, asir; I haven't
the like,

N You hauven't an unbrella? A

No~, vvhe had the

A FRose, but I deane the shopplny,

aide listening to a Calvaticn Army

ne o yLu marbar vhere yot were on the day of your
brother': arreet? A I waa2 'it‘ Rir. 8Ly,
T That tise a1l you leave the house, that morning?
A Ticht ¢'aolack, atout twenty minvtes to nine he was
token rom nme,
¢ you were not working anyvhere at that timey A We
ere jurt zoing 4uwn to 22t o eontrast job» with My, Fisher,
And ya hadn't done any work fur adbout a year before
that, nelther you ;r Johnanie had woyvked for a year, had you?
A RNo, sixr; 2bout that,
ter long have you keen living at the addrees where you
ars nov living? A From three and a half to four months,
Q Nowv whep you r:a ;, it the tire your brother was
arrested, when did you next your brothert A Yhen did I next

wné :y- to }.'-:
and Johnnie, he stocd out-

% A
cana,

Fc, sir,

rchage the goods, that night?



see him?
Q Yea? A It was a long time,

Q@ Thy 214 you go to visit lrs. Kern at her home? Why

did you go uwp to see Mre, Kern, the ocomplainant, at her home?
A Becauee I seen it in the Harlem Home News, why he was arrested,
Hiec name was in there, And so we went to visit Nrs, Yern,

and was alsc %o She laundry, to find out, ani the laundryman
named the four,and he told me any time I needed him, he would
sore down, but he changed his xind afterwards, And he said he

would lose his life if b2 can't same the four, and -he will pay

one hundred dollara to get the fellow, Fe told Nrs., Kern

that,

. \ . 1
0 PFor» you haven't done any work since your brother was

arrested, have you? A K., alz.
”
ROSE SHITH, a witnese called in behall of the

efandant, being duly svorn, testified us followse:

’
DIAFCT EXANIRATION BY MR, UUPILLIFR:
Q Are you Miass or Mre? A liies, !
7 How® old are yut A Twenty-two,
n And is the defendant your nephewt A My nephew, yes,
) Vio do you live with? A ¥ith =y siater,
0 Vho 18 your ajistor? A Mre, Mary'Humt,

(, The defendant's mother? A Yes, sir; her mother, these

t7o boys' notho(: John Hunt's wother,
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Q Now how long have you been 1living there with thea?
A Five nontha,

wtla your bueinesn? A Because sha isan't “eelinz good,

Q T =ay Ty ie your vacupationy A HNurse.
’

24§/-‘.r; 13 you ok lust? A At the LBaat Slde Home
wnd Day Tarsary,

atlon zepeited)? ! T lived there from about some
ntha sdnca - T-live? there,
AN aiace Yot tive w nave bern living =#ith them there?

O DBif you ifve there durling the meath of October, 1915]\

P Werg 0 thare n tte rirhe of Ocitoher 33rd, 12157

i ¢ there everry nirht, T don™ ro out nighte, I am with
v al o - NP | - B ‘\t‘.""' "N
- .y + 2271 4ha ni~h+ nf (‘t.»}‘,-’\_-ai.' ""'("'1: 129157 A 1

thapa, yan, air: -~nd the tvo Hoys and T did the marketiag.

; =h ¥ ? . 4 Zohnnie and Tommy: they axe t#ing.
Py 1 mear thie boy Reras (inifsating the defendant)?
A Yoz, air; ped Bie brotder. Tom Munt,
fnd me went out £nAd A1 the motherfe marketinz, and we
comra home, " tY27 helre?.re 200k their eupner, and even helped

ma waask itnhan, bacause my gieter woen't feeling good,
Then ~e tnlked 2 J4t¢l~» »hidle, and they went 4An bed, &%

about ten nimtes of eleven, or around elevean of2look, )
o’

]
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And then their father and another gentleman was playing
carde, and they got through around tselve o'eleck, and the Hunts
went to bed, |

0 And where dil you sleep? A Rizht with my esister, be-
cause oh; was sick, that night,

N And wvhere did her husband sleep? A Her husband was
richt inside of the bed, Te was up and down all mnight, in
'fwct. And I mever alaent, thit night, heccuce my sister was
very siok,

PY THY COVRT:
9 You were not 23ked that, Tou vrere asked vhere the husband
glept, A Tle was =ith hia wife, sir, He lay dewn,

BY MR, SUVILLIFR:

" And vou were in the bed? A Up and down, I wasn't.
':s]aoy muctk.,
Hor nany rooms have you there? A Two,
A What are they? FPurnished rocua? A Tes, sir, Because,
on abeouft o. her i11iness she had to break up,
And now Jdo. you know this was October 23rd? A Because
I was there, sir,
Do wou know what day of the week it wvae? A It was of
a “aturiay night that this happened,
What l«p;cned? A 1 mean thio whole thing happened,

n What? A (No anaver.)

BY THY. COURT:
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Q What thing? A I mean the disturbance occurred on
gaturday night, because we were out marketing, and I remember it,
beoause we get the paper every day, and we alwaye know the
dates,
BY MR, CUVILLIER:

G Vhat paper? A Ve get two or threc kinda of papers,
every day.

0 Well, which one? A It was in the World, .

q 1s thxt‘your only reason or conclusion that you know of
that it wae October 23rcd, Saturduy night, the faoct that you
saw it in the paper? A Wel’, T was there, sir, and I know the

boys never leaves the house,

Do they sver leave the house at nightt A Yes, sir,
O And vhen do they get in? A FHal{ past ten, they have
to be indcore, or the father won't let them in,
2 Hov leng have you known this boy? A Viell, T am ¥n this
gountry ten years, but I didn't know where they were, because
I always workecd with my lady, off and on in the ocountry,

(Question repeated)? A About seven months,

And einge you have be>n hore, you have met him, the
lefeniant, regularly in the house? A Yes, sir; and I never lef$
them,

Do you drink beer in that house? A WNeo, sir; nor

smoke,

7 Did you ever see this defendant drink beer? A WNo, eir.
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0 Positive of that? A Positively,
7 Did you ever o;c him emoke? A No, eir,
f Does the brother smoke? A ?o; sir,

b

" Does he drink? A VWo, sir,

CROSS EXAVINATION BY MR, SHITH:

§ Does the stepfather drink? A Yes, plenty of beer,
every night,

¢
Q In the house? A In the house, A couple of pintas of

beer In the house, '
0 W2e he drunk on the night ¢f the 23rd of October? A
Well, to say drunk, I never saw lr, Hunt drunk, but I know he

P

drinke beer, i

n Well, he was playing carde on thic night with hie ffiend,
and they nad a can of beer there, did thay nos; A Yes, oir,

And they were dx»inking? A VYes, eir; they had two

or three.pintu of be=zr, ani esmpeocially on a Saturday night,
they stay up later than any other night, because any other night
he's tired and goes to bed,

Q) Now you don't remember whethef this 7as on the 23zd of
October or the 15th of October, do you?t A Tes, I do,

Q Vhere was the defendan® on the 8Saturday night boforo,.
the 16th of Ootober? A Right in the louse vith me, except
e go out marketing.

0 On the 16th of Octobsr, the 3aturday nigzht before this

“y
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occurrence, where was the defendant? A The Safurday night
before? :

- Yes? A Ve always go out ==

Q (Question repeated)? A Well, he wa: where I was, ex-
cept to go out marketing, and help carry parcels,

0 And on October 30th, Saturday night, where was the de~
fendant? A Well, I can awear thet they never left my side
any night,

n Well, did théy leave you in the day time? A Yes, when
they were working,

Now who was working? A Johnny Hunt used to do odd jobs
N

around Fisﬁer'u atore,

@ You haven't werked for five months, have you? A WNo,
elr; I didn't,

7 Wow where were they on the 23rd day of October? What
time did you get up that morning? A In the morning?

7" Yes? A TWell, I zencrally get up about seven o'clock,
iround seven,

3 And were the boys up at that time? A Around eight or
half puut eight,

2 They got up? A Yes, 8ir,

Q Vell, did you eee them when they went out, that day?
A Yes, oir,

Q VWhat time did they go out, that day? A About half past

eight in the morning, Johnny did,
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% Johnny did? A Yes, sir,

, " NWow this wos on the 33rd of October? A Yes, sir,

Q That's the day I mean, A Yes, the day he was are

\ ,

reated?

Q FNeo, no, I mean the 33rd of Wctoier. low where was he
on the 33rd day of October? A Vell, I'll tell you, They
0 in and out, and sometimes they don*'t tzll me where, but I

r

know that they go dovn on the avenue, to ¥r, Rasquir and Nr,
Fisher,
you remember the 30rd of October very well, don't
you? A Yes, sir,
You remember evorything that tock rlace cn that day?
Yes, air; Dbecause ny nister wis s¢ siock, That's how 1
remember 1it,
Ani she =23 in bed all tﬁat day? A Yea, sir; and
that night,
Tox the bo the deiendant and 'ais brother got u;
bout hall puast ei-ht in the morning? A Yes, eir, Generally
J
Anil they had -their dbreakfast in the house, didn't they?
A Sowmetiues they went out wvithout eating anything,
) Well, on tria morning what 441 they do? A They had
la, anl they iidn't drink tea or coffee,

And when did they cowe back? A In about an hour and

» half,
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q— Ani then did they have something to eat? A‘ Yen, air;

and I got it reald; for them, : g

And tgen they went out again? A Yees, sir,

Anl then shey vtent out about tvelve or one o'clock?
A Yes, sir,

That time 112 the defendant and his brother come baok?
A They cone back then about half pirat flve,

And then you had sosething eloe for them? A TVell, they
until supper time,

had nothing el=2e then, only bread, perhaps,

And what time did you have supper? A It'z asccording
to the tire her husbaini comes home; sometimes Lt's eight o'olock

nd aometinen nine ofclock,

% On the ni~ht of the 33rd jycu wvent ocut =ith the boys,
rarketing® A Yee, sir; and when we came back, they made
me cook a supper for their mother, =nl they o v i helped me wash
the dishesn, ar e talked tittle vhile to ether, and the boys
>
n  And you rerained up? A Yee, eir, I didn't o0 to bed
until the father's friend vent home, at trelve o'clock,
And you recollcct that -the next dsy »as Sunday, don't
you? A Yes, ®ir,
Andi what time did you get up? A Johnny got up at about
seven o'clock that mornins, and went to church, and I went to
church,

N When did you get back? A About a juarter of eight,
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. he got back about the same time, and we had in the paper,
and read the paper, a(terﬂbreakf&ut.

Q VYhat dij you read about in the paper? A We always

get the Sunday paper,

Q And what did you read? About thia trouble in 135th
Street; 48 that right? A Yen, oir,

7 Ani yoa read about a woman beins assaulted there, didn't
you?r A Yes, sir,

that

2 Ko, Trom/time on Aid this defendant leave that house?
A TNo, sir; not at night, He wae home every night for five
monﬁha.

0 And every day he remained at home? I am speaking of
|

after ycu read the account of the 2aesault on this roman in the

laundry in 135th Street, Did he leave ths Louae after ycu
read ‘that? A Yes, & ocouple of days he was with Mr, Fisher,
and the rest of the time unéil he vwuan arrested, he was in the
house with me,
¥R, CUVILLIVR: Ve rest, That is the defense,
- MNP, CMITH: Ve rost, |
¥R, CUVILLIFR: kel 1 respectfully renew my motion,
ind avk your honor to take Ifrom “he consideration of the
jury the first count in the indlotuent, first, om the
;round -~ |
THE COURT: Tell, it 1s not necessury to argue that,

¥hat have the Peopls to say?

L
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MR, SMITH: If your Honor please, I have examined

the authorities and the decieions, and I think, under the

deoisione of the Courts in thie case, that there 18 not

sufficlent corrcboration to submit this case to the jury
on the first count in the indictment, We w#ill go to
the jury on the question of assault in the second degree,
TSE COURT: Then T w11l grant the motion to take
the firet count froa the jury, lave you any other

motions?

MR, COVILLIZR: Oh, yes, Then I move the Court,
reapectfully, that on the evidence in the entire case
that the indictrent beo diasmisced and the defeniant die-
chagged, on tha zround that the Peorle have falled to
prove a case againat the defcndant;

THE COURT: Denied.

"R, CUVILLIIR: Txception,

THF COURT: That is a Juestion of fact for the Jury,
The law does not reguire any corrovoration of a complaining c::::
witness on 2 charge ¢of asscult, It is a guestion for
the jury to determine the walter of the credibfiity of
the witneeses, Is that all?

MR, CUVILLIFR: Yes, 8ir,

TRE COURT: Then you wxill be ready to sum up arter
7

re CO?E'J?

"R. CUVILLIER: Yes, cir,
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(The Court admonished the jury in accord-
ance with Section 415 of the Code of
Criminal Procedure, and took a recesa

until two o'clock,)




People vs, John Hunt. irl1
' AFTFR RFCESS:

THE COURT'S CHARGE:

Mulqueen, J.

Centlemen of the Jury:

The defendant ie chafged vith the orime cf ascault
in the second degree, It 1s alleged that, in the County

~

of NWew York, on the 34th day of October, 191€, with force
and arnaliin and upon a certain fewale, not his wife, to
wit, one Xuitherine Xern, he feloniously did make an assault,
with intent an act of sexual intercourse with her, the
82id ¥atherine Kern, then and there felcniously to perpe-~
trate, againet the will of the said Katherine Kern, and
without her coneent, againet the form of the Statute in
juch case made and provided, and against the peace of the
Peorle of the State of New York, znd their dignity.

You undersatand that this is an action brought by the
,P;Byle of the 8tate cof New York against John Hunt, It
is not brought by Katherine Kern,

The term "People of the State of New York" embraces
21l the people living in this State, and in order to pro=-
tect themselvee in the enjoywent of their lives, their
persone and their property frum unjust attack, they have

made certain laws, and they charge that the defendant, on
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the 34th of October, 1915, in this County, violated one
of those lawe,
The Statute in Juestion iz a very plain one, Sege
ticn 342 defines assault in the second degree &;'fdiiowux
*A person who, under circumstances not amounfing to
the crire speolfied in Saction 340' -= which defines
assault in the first dogreo - '1saau1ta ancther with ine
tent to commit a felony, or to prevent or rcsist the
execution of any lawful process or mandate of any Court
or officer, or the lawful apprehension of detention of &
himself, or of any other person, is guilty of assault

in the second degree,®

It is charged that the defendant, with intent to
cormit a felony, to wit, the crime of rape, violated that
section, that is, that he assaulted Katherine Kerh.

Now, there is no doubt in anyone's mind that rape in
the first de;rée is a felony. Section 3010 of the Penal
Law provides: -

*A person who perpetrates an act of'sexual intercourse
with a female, not hie wife, againset her will or without
her consent, when her rcsistance is forecibly overcome;
“or, when her resistance is prevented by fear of imrediate
and great bodily harm, which she has reasonable ;auao to
believe will be inflicted on her, is guilty of rape in
the first degree.*

That is the felony that the People charge that the
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defendant intended to commit, If he put his hande on.
that woman, with the intention of committing rape in the
first degree, he was guilty of assault in the second degre:
wheﬁper he accomplished the rape or not,

I have taken the question of the rape from you, and
it 1s for you to say whether, on that night, he plaoodf
a hand on Mrs, Kern, and, secondly, whether when he did that
he intended to use force, aq\that he or others might have
sexual intercourse with her, against her will, and by
~means of force or vidlence, or by instilling fear into
hgr mind that, if she made any resistance, she would be
injured,

That is a very simple icsue, andi the charge, there-
fors, 13 rlain, and the law is clear,

At the trial, as the defendant's counsel says, you
must not assume that, because the defendant has been
arreated and indicted, that he is guilty. Those are only
steps that we take in the proasecution of crisinals, When
a man 1s brought to the Bar to be tried, the rule of law
is that he is presumed to be innccent; he ia not presumed
to be guilty; and the People, represented by the Distriot
Attorney, ha§e the burden of proving his guilt beyond a
;eaaohable doubt; otherwise, he must go free,

That is all that the presumption of innocence means;

that, unless all the evidence viewed calmly and impartially

¢
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by the jury, convinces them that the ohsrggdhal been
proven beyond a reasonable donbt;¢ghen the defendant must
go free,

Now what is meant by a reasonable doubt?--tlt means
the doubt which an honest man would be justified in enter-
taining under all the facts and circumstances of the case,
It is a doubt which is based ¢n the evidence, is connected
with the evidence, and arises out of the evidence in the
case, It ie not a doubt that a dishonest juror will
imagine or conjure up from his imagination, in order to
render s verdict of not guilty, It is not based on

~prejudice or sympathy, or on caprice or whim, or any de-

sure to avoid doing your duty, if it is diesagreeable. But
it is the state of an honest man's mind where, after
carefully and conacientiously weighing all the evidence,
he is unable to say to a moral certainty that the de-
fgndant is guilty.

There are some cases in which a prejudice might be
arouse. simply by the nature of the wharge, You under-
stand that, on a trial, the jury must not be swayed by
prejudice againat.a defendant, or by sympathy for him,
They must abgolutely banish every thought from their minde

but the de-ire to do their duty. You must make an: effort
not to be carried away by the nature of the ohargc‘éf the

4

evidence, but to weigh it ocoldly, calmly and nnutxllly.é
“\\) " g
{ % 1 “ !“‘.'“

~h

~
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That is your sworn obligation,

The Court ia the Judge of the law, The las is
plain, thecc in no doubt about the law, Yo guestion has
been made aa to the Juipge's rulince upon the law, You
are the scle juligen of the facts, and of the credibility
of the witren es, Facts are proved by vitnesses, not
by iragination, but by witnessez, and it is your duty to

calrly weirh e2nch ¢f the witnenssee, 23 the saying is, and

Lo n unnn thair eradibility, The word %credibility"*
LY
means worthinans of belief,

*hat witnaniea that have apreared before you here on
both aidea were worthy of belief, in your opinion?

T™ere 12 net any infallible or rigid test to apply in
determinin: that -uaestion, You must use the common sense
that you have, and that youa -employ in your o#n important
huainras affairag, You must be honest, that is the
fFirst thirg; and then you must honestly weigh the tectimony
of the witnesnsesn, "hiek of ther Jo you believe? It

4

been- epaid that acretimen the manner of a witnese may
helr yon in detersining hie credibility, You can consider
the intercet, if any, that the 7itnces has in the contro-
verer, the orpertunity that the witness has of knowing
whereof he or shé ocreake, and the rotive that the witness

iy have tor tectifying falsely,

You sar this woran on the atand, Did ehe impress
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you as an 1ntefligent, decent woman, or not? Was there
anything in her story of vrhat she nrays happened there

to m2ke you believe it waie incredible or impussible?

Did her manner impress you as that of a woman who wae
honently tellinr the trutk, ér that she wne delibcratelj
nlotting tc ruvin someons who had nevar dopne heratfza:rogg

,
or 4hi%t ahe 718 honaat in has atalemant?
g £

¥

What motivs gomld this woman have to testify falsely
againat a man who had Acone her no wronz? . Ye can imagine
that 12 woran who hal haen treatad 2o ghe ¢laims to have
becn treated hal 2 gtrongs incentive and desire to punish
the rerscn or perso 183 who wronged her in that manner, But
'hy ehould che teatify arainat anyore rhorn she did not be-

lieve to he one o tha men who “ronged her

]

, an she Qe-

rorihet”

‘wan 1f n witpagas, Ap your opiniecn, has a nctive to
toeti ftojeely, that vld be no rzason ior rejecting
the tentimony, The witness «ho has such a motive, the
iefondant | for instances, way be tsllin: the truth, It is

12 8lamenta that you muat conasider in deter-

inine the oradiihility of ths witnaaszsa
- !

ther:fore, your province to qdcldo the question

of t eralibility ol w#itnesses, to deterwine whether any
witnes~ has told the truth, or hae deliberately falsified

¥y particulady, or shelther any witness has made a mistake
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and has told what wans not true by accident,

The defeniant has sought to prove that he was not at
this laundry where the crime is alg;ge; to have been
committed, but that he was ot home at that time; and that
is vhat is known as an alibi, namely, proof that he was
elasewhere, of course, if he wus elsewhere at the time,
he could not be guilty; and if the evidence that hc has
submiited to you on that score satisfies you as being
truthful, an’ entitled- 2o credence, if it proves to your
satiefaction that he %20 at home at that time, of ccurse,
you must icjuit hir; or, Af it raleee a reasonable doubt
in your mind 28 to whether he was or war not present
at the ti ;, you must aleso acquit hip,

New, on the oueation of the identity of the defendant,
you recall that the covplai in;; witnepa said that ehe had
gseen him at least twice before the night in question on
135th ©'recet, and that she wig there Ifgr four hours with
theae men, an! had a good orportunity to see him, and that
she ie certain that thie is the man who opened the door-
of the laundry when she was caught on the street, and
iragged in, and described with great minuteness what
he di¢; and said that it was some ten days later when she
saw him on the street, and got = policeman, and had him

?
arrented,

\

Ia ahe mistaken? 1s she or io }Ce not telling the

¢
e
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truth? That you must determine by using your own good

>
penase an? jud=mant, as you Ao in ths important affairs

of yeur 4231y 1ife; oand, if you are firerly corvinced to
a roral certainty that this »cman told the ‘truth, and that

thic 12 the ran who treated hory

t‘; @n you

on
-

you, i ¥

tentifvin

111
2~ q e
TG inss

411
e 1 i
At t ti
YL‘ aonr

evesrvore

ent ther

that 18 w

of aaonl)

rea ble

Lt of “la milt, you must s2y no by a verdiot of

=2 ghs saye she waa treated,
muaY find hir svilty of assavlt in the eecend

i you have no rover to 40 otherwise,

he ciher hani, if the evidence Joeec not satiafy

su think that she hos rade a miastake, or is

falucly, if on the “hole case yov have a reason-

that the law agkes you to do ier to be honest men,

i h thiz2 teatirony calrly and nulietly, and to

ardict,

itizens wian %o enforce reapect for the law,
che T strea's fo ?\f honest, decent people
L

ht, anid to make our County

nls people, and te drive

slne from it, on the trial of an indiot-

e ruat be ewvidence to satiafy you of zuilt
reasonabhle doubt bhafeore vou can conviot, If
ur atate of rmind,

reonounce the defendant guilty

t in the necond derree; but, if you have a

doubt as to his guilt, promounce him not fuilty.




Your verdict, therefore, should be either

assault 1§

Any requeasts

n ‘the second degree or not guilty,

P
S asl

to rge?

"R, CUVILLITR: None whatever, air,

MR, SWITO: None, air,

THE COURT: If there 1s any conflioct as t¢ what the
toat 1y b 1 13t he mided by vour own recolliection
of it, and, if you a3til) 4iffer or are in doubt as to what
the toatlinony i3, ysu may raturn to Court, and request
the Court %0 have the otenograrher renod the testimony about

hic} 0 Are unosrtain to you,
You ray r:tire, gentlemen,
(The jury returned to the Courtroo~ at 3:55 P, M,)
I' OURT: .entlemen of the Jury, I have sent for
the Jur - i I recciy this notification:
“Hon, Jw ul n,
Il perwiasible, we, 't jury, in this case againat
John Hunt, dezire informaticn as to the couplainin it-
ness's identification of t? ctier alleged assallants;
thiz to he ! blislh the reliability of her identiflca-
ion of the deféndant,®
I wish to wvay to you, centlemen, in anewver to thas,
thatl ner 3ddentification of othsr pereons has no bearing om
this caae at all, It i2 not legal evidencc, and has not
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anything .to do viihxthle case,

rlgat in identifyiny this

“w

8aw

have to determine from that, und from her conduct when

she 3aw¥ him on the street when he was srrested, as to
vhethar he ia the uwan or jot, She said that he was in
the ro *h har for four hzurse, and you cuan look at
that man, and 33y *hether he has the kind of a face that
Fou uld rz7es~ber or not,

Tatre intc accrunt all th2 circunstaucee of the case,
wnd fataraine whatlizr shs 12 tellliag the truth, or whether
sho 18 honeotly miestaken, or <hathsr she hus deliberately
teaatilled falsely, You have to puss on that :uesti&ﬁ,

- ’
i theut § y Ly conelderiny the jueztion whish yom
have »ut to That 12 the 12y as I understand it,
T™hia mazn 1a trial nox, At # ions 28 te others-ie -
no i tefere you, Y undevataind tlat now,

Peipgh 4ll the teatl:ony earsiully, 2and pronounce an
wonnat vardict,

'avs you anything further to ask, counsel lor?

R, CUVILLIER: Ko, 3LrF,

R, S11%: No, =ir,

SOURT e If there 13 any otber Lely that you want,

testimeny read

~

>

this man twi

8o
we

You 83r the witneas,

i .

4

before, and

-

10

4

Che might have been

war , We cainot reason that way,

nl heard her story, She. 821d ehe
| .

¥

that he i1s the wan, You

iet ue Lnow, and we will bhave




N

11
it read to you, and we will be at your service for any
information that you deeirve,

The jury oan retire,

(The jury returned to the Coﬁrtroom at 4:30 P, N,,

finding the defendant juilty of assault in the second

deyree. )
R, COVILLIZR? I wove, very reorectfully, may it
vleasze the Court, tc set anids the verdlot: PFiret, on

th roun® that the verdict is against the la~ and against
tie evilence,
tacond, £hat 1t la gqatrar; t¢ lavw and contrary to
tte evidence, .
ird, that your Moicr ad-itted imraterial and incom=
retent evidence, prejudicial to the defendant, and excluded
coerpatent and waterinl eviderce in favor of the defendant,
end I move Tcr a ne” trial on a'l tha ~rounde specified

in the Section ¢ the Code of Cririna) Procedure, and
»

v ~

ction 969 of the Code of Clivil Procedure,

THE COURT: The métien 1s denied, and on the day of
sentencs, I will zive y.u permission to renev that motion,
or make such other wotlicne ar you may deerm advisable, 1
will impose ncntéucc on the 1l4th,

'R, COVILLIER: Yay I have an exeaption noted as to

your Yonor's derial of my present motions?

TH. COURT: Yen,
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